


Sony Corporation is one of the world's leading manu

facturers of audio and video equipment, televisions, 

and such products as micro floppydisks, disk drives, 
and semiconductors used in consumer electronics. 

Keenly aware of the interrelated nature of software and 

hardware, Sony is also bolstering its presence in the 

audio and video software markets through the CBS 

Records group. A strong commitment to research and 

development has helped the Company build a world

wide reputation as a pacesetter in the electronic 
equipment industry. Having also garnered recognition 

as one of japan's most international corporations by 

manufacturing in the markets where its products are 

sold, Sony is currendy strengthening global systems for 
other corporate functions, from management to R&D. 

Front cover: These grandparents are enjoying a video of 
their grandson filmed with Sony's Bmm Handycam. And 
with a Video Walkman, an album of vivid, moving images 
beyond description can be enjoyed anyNme and anywhere 
(picture simulated). 
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Financial Highlights 
Sony Corporation and consol idated subsidiaries · Year ended March 31 

Operating Results 

Millions of yen 
except per share amounts 

1988 (Restated) 1989 

FOR THE YEAR 
Net sales ......... .... .. .. .. ...... .. .... ..... ... .... .......... .. ................ ... .. "¥1 ,555,219 
Operating income.......... ............. ............. ........................ 60,664 
Net income....................................................................... 37,236 

Per Depositary Share: 
Net income ........................ .. .. ........................................ "¥ 
Cash dividends ... .. .... ..... ... ........ .. ... .... .... .. ... ....... .... .... .. . 

AT YEAR-END 

151.0 
44.60 

Stockholders' equity .. .......... .. ............................ .. .... ... .. .. . "¥ 646,076 
Total assets..................................................... .. .... ... .. .. ...... 1,945,44 7 

Number of employees ...... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... ... .. .. .... .......... .. ..... : .. 71,000 

¥2,145,329 
160,499 

72,469 

241.7 
44.60 

y 911,816 
2,364,775 

78,900 

Percent change 
1989/1 988 

+ 37.9% 
+ 164.6 
+ 94.6 

+ 60.1 

+ 41.1 
+ 21 .6 

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars except 
per share amounts 

1989 

$16,252,492 
1,215,902 

549,008 

$ 1.83 
0.34 

$ 6,907,697 
17,914,962 

Note: U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from yen, fo r convenience only, at the rate of ¥132 = U.S.$ 1, the Tokyo fo reign exchange market rate as of March 31, 
1989, as described in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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To Our Shareholders 

Operating Results 

Consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 1989, swelled to ¥2,145 billion ($16,252 

million), a 37.9% increase over the previous year, due 

to favorable performances in all electronics divisions 

and the addition of sales generated by record opera

tions. Operating income expanded 164.6%, to ¥160 

billion ($1,216 million), and net income, at ¥72 billion 

($549 million), posted a 94.6% gain. Primary net 

income per Depositary Share (each Depositary Share 

represents one share of Common Stock) climbed to 

¥241.7 ($1.83), up 60.1 %, and fully diluted net income 

per Depositary Share rose to ¥240.8 ($1.82), a 65.3% 

increase over the previous year. Based on 282,602,923 

shares outstanding as of March 31, 1989, stockholders' 

equity per Depositary Share was ¥3,226 ($24.44 ), 

versus ¥2,706 a year ago. 

Sales of electronics products posted strong performances 

by all divisions and all geographic regions, centering 

on 8mm video products and broadcast-use videotape 

recorders (VTRs), compact disc (CD) players and other 

audio equipment, computer displays and workstations, 

and semiconductors and electronic components. Brisk 

record sales were supported by the large number of 

hit albums released during the year. Thus, Sony was 

able to realize a significant increase in earnings through 

successes in long-term policies aimed at increasing 

productivity, reducing costs, and aggressively expanding 

production overseas, in addition to the contribution 

from the record business. 

Subject to shareholders' approval at the General Meeting 

of Shareholders scheduled to be held on june 29, 1989, 

in Tokyo, Sony will pay to shareholders of record as 

2 

of March 31, 1989, a cash dividend of ¥22.30 (before 

deduction of withholding taxes) per Depositary Share 

for the six-month period ended March 31, 1989. This 

payment will bring the total annual cash dividend for 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 1989, to ¥44.60 

($0.34) per Depositary Share. 

Progress in Globalization 

For Sony, globalization is tantamount to ensuring long

term growth and heightened competitive strength amid 

constantly changing political and economic variables. 

Expansion of local production is progressing in the 

U.S. in the sophisticated areas of computer displays, 

workstations, and micro floppydisk systems. In April 

1989, Sony Corporation of America announced the 

opening of the Advanced Video Technology Center, a 

research and development base for HDTV (high defi

nition television)-related equipment. Also, the addition 

of CBS Records Inc. to the Sony Group represents 

headway in the diversification of Sony's operations 

in the U.S. 

Many companies have begun to prepare for the EC 

market unification in 199 2. Sony is further promoting 

localization in order to gain acceptance as a genuine 

European firm, as evidenced by the start-up of the 

Italian audiotape factory, and increased production 

capacity of CD players and 8mm video products manu

factured at a plant in France. Based on our efforts in 

maintaining strict quality control standards, the color 

television factory in Great Britain was recognized in 

November 1988 with the prestigious British Quality 

Award for 1988 presented by the British Quality 

Association. 



Akio Morita, Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer (lett), and 

Norio Ohga, President and 
Chief Operating Officer 

Expansion of production bases in Asia is also 

progressing. During the year under review, operations 

began at a color television factory and an audio plant in 

Malaysia and at a color television factory and a video

tape facility in Thailand. A semiconductor plant in 

Thailand is scheduled to go into operation in 1990. 

Economic growth in Asia is expected to be high, with 

a corresponding increase in purchasing power 

In the future, Sony will continue to promote 

strengthened production capacity in overseas regions, 

higher local procurement, and the transfer of R&D 

activities and management functions overseas to be 

more responsive to key local markets. The Company is 

constantly striving to be a better corporate citizen by 

contributing to the development of local communities 

and raising the quality of its presence. 

Expanding Growth Opportunities 

As in the past, Sony continues to emphasize strength 

in research and development in creating products that 

give consumers pleasure and satisfaction. In consumer 

products-such as video equipment, audio equipment, 

TVs, and magnetic tapes-this means introducing 

innovative product lines and beefing up our sales and 

after-sales service networks. For industrial-use products, 

strengthening operations in video equipment and 

displays is only part of the task; expansion in semi

conductors and electronic components, which support 

every area of electronics business, and a long-term 

commitment to R&D and cultivating operations in 

computers, information processing, and telecommuni

cations equipment, will be the keys to future growth 

opportunities. Fully aware that the complementing effect 

of having both software and hardware operations will 

be indispensable for future developments, Sony is 

striving for stronger software operations, focusing 

on the CBS Records group. 

3 



Increased Efficiency 

and Strengthened Competitiveness 

In response to the severe foreign currency movements 

seen over the past several years, Sony stepped up efforts 

to increase productivity and cut costs. Project teams 

implemented programs throughout the Company and 

achieved improvements in design, production, sales, 

and distribution. 

The establishment of the Corporate Research 

Laboratories, in October 1988, together with the 

Research Center, which carries out basic research, and 

the research sections of each operational division that 

develop new products to be introduced two or three 

years down the road, provides Sony with a streamlined 

research and development foundation that will serve 

as the source of future growth. Sony will continue to 

press at the forefront of technology, introducing exciting 

new products and maintaining a leadership position. 

Future Endeavors 

Due to uncertainties in the direction of the European 

and U.S. economies and increasing inflationary fears, 

uncertain interest rate and foreign exchange movements, 

and intensifying price competition, we believe that the 

near-term business environment will continue to be 

difficult to forecast. Sony will continue to promote the 

previously mentioned policies and create a corporate 

4 

structure capable of responding flexibly to any type 

of change in the operating environment. Further, Sony 

will continue to strive for heightened profitability and 

a sounder financial structure through better inventory 

control and carefully appropriated capital expenditures. 

Foremost in Sony's business philosophy is providing 

products and services that give lasting pleasure to 

customers worldwide. 

May 25, 1989 

Akio Morita 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

C:::::t~J-_._ __ ~_o_,rio ::;~ 
President and Chief Operating Officer 
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Video Equipment 

Video equipment sales for the 

term ended March 31, 1989, 

recorded a 27.1 °k> increase over 

the previous year at YS 73 billion 

($4,345 million), accounting 

for 26. 7°k> of consolidated net 

sales. Sales of 8mm video 

products posted large gains 

particularly in camcorders. 

Home-use 1/2-inch VTRs also 

turned in a good performance 

with VHS decks, which were 

introduced in the spring of 

1988, supplementing the full 

lineup of Betamax VTRs. Sales 

of videodisc players marked 

large increases for another 

consecutive year. Large gains 

in Betacam SP systems and 

digital VTR systems supported 

solid advances in sales of 

broadcast- and professional

use VTRs. Videotape sales 

showed growth after the range 

of products was expanded. 
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• 8mm Video Products 

: The market for home-use camcorders has entered a pronounced growth 
• : phase with a widening scope of applications, from home photography to 

: sports and travel-related activities. During the year under review, Sony 

: adopted the newly developed, ultra-smallSmm videotape drive mechanism 

(FL Mecha), making possible the introduction of even smaller and lighter 

: products, which bolstered our lineup of Smm video products and were 

• popular with customers. 
. 
• In August 19S8, Sony introduced the Video Walkman in Japan, further . 
: opening up the field of "personal video;' a new dimension over the previous 

: form and applications of home video. It was introduced in the U.S. and 
• Europe later in 1988. Following the release of the Video Walkman, the list 

: of titles available on pre-recorded Smm tape, including video magazines . 
• from various publishers that present current topics in a lively video format, 

• has been expanding. 

• 8mm Hi-Band Video Products 

. In spring 19S9, Sony introduced its new line of Smm Hi-Band products in 

: Japan and the U.S. under the name "video HiS;' offering over 400 horizontal . 
• lines of high resolution recording capability. At the same time, we introduced 

: the newly developed high-density "HiS" metal evaporated tape, created 
• 
: using a vacuum evaporation process. "video HiS" products are scheduled 
• • to be released in Europe during 19S9. . 
• 
• Home-Use 1/2-inch VTRs 

• Sony continued to expand its lineup of Betamax products, centering on 

: the high quality ED Beta and Hi-Band Beta. Fortifying our strength as the 

: only manufacturer offering all three existing formats of home video tech-
• : nology, in spring 19SS, we launched our line of VHS decks in Europe. In 

: addition, Sony's VHS format hi-fi VTRs that incorporate advanced editing 

: capabilities, brought to market in July 19SS, were well received by Japanese 

: consumers. We began marketing these models in the U.S. in autumn 19SS. 

• Still-Image Video Camera 

: In December 19SS, Sony introduced the Mavica home-use still-image 
• • video camera to the Japanese market. This new technology allows recording 
• 
: up to 50 video stills on a single, reusable two-inch floppydisk. These can . 
• be played back immediately on a standard TV with an adaptor This 



..................... 
In addition to having the 
special features of being 
compact, lightweight, 
and capable of extended 
recording, Sony's 
Handycam series of Bmm 
video camcorders features 
many functions, such as 
a variable speed digital 
shutter, which is ideal 
for the fast action of 
sporting events . 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
To expand and upgrade its 
lineup of Betamax VTRs, 
Sony introduced a new ED 
Beta VTR in Japan in April 
1989. This VTR offers a 
high quality picture with 
500 horizontal lines of 
resolution and improved 
editing capabilities. 
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• innovative product was released in the U.S. market in spring 1989 . . 
• 

• Broadcast- and Professional-Use VTRs 

: Betacam SP systems-which handle electronic news gathering, studio editing, 

• and broadcasting-have earned a high reputation among TV stations and . 
• film production companies worldwide. TV stations from around the world . 
: adopted Betacam SP for recording and editing purposes at the 1988 Seoul 
• • Olympic Games. The Spanish National Broadcasting Network has placed 

: a large order for equipment to be used to cover the Barcelona Olympic 

: Games scheduled for 1992. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
• Digital VTR systems are acknowledged by TV stations and film production 

Images recorded by the still-image • companies for their outstanding performance, particularly in editing, with 
video camera Mavica can be played : 
back immediately on a TV screen. : virtually no loss of image integrity after repeated dubbings. After introduc-
The Mavica is ideal for use in • 
activities ranging from sports and • ing the world's first component digital VTR in 1987, Sony during the year . 
travel to business presentations. • under review introduced the D-2 format professional-use composite digital 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

: VTR system to the japanese and U.S. markets for use with NTSC's existing 

: composite signal. We also introduced the Digital Cart System, which greatly 

: increases efficiency for TV stations by automating the broadcasting of 

: commercial spots and other program material. At the April 1989 National 

• Association of Broadcasters (NAB) Show, Sony introduced its latest 

• broadcast- and professional-use products, including the world's first 

: portable D-2 composite digital VTR and one with extended recording 
• : and playback capabilities . 
. 
• 
: HDTV-Related Equipment 

Compared with the traditional analog : In the field of HDTV (high definition television), we have already commer
VTR, digital VTR offers a significant 
improvement in picture and audio 
quality and is gaining wide accep
tance as a new VTR format for 
handling editing at broadcasting 
and production studios. 
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• cialized development of related equipment-including a digital VTR, camera, 

• monitor, projector, and an optical videodisc player-and have been marketing 

• this system to TV stations and film production companies around the world. 

: In the future, Sony will continue to expand product development to handle 
• 
: the various areas in the HDTV market, including the movie industry. . 
. 
• • . 
• . 
• 

. 
• 



Audio Equipment 

Audio equipment sales rose 

l7.0°Jb, to ¥561 billion ($4,248 

million), comprising 26.2°Jb 

• CD Players 

• Sony continued its active introduction of new products in an extremely 

• diverse range of types, including separate component units, portable models, 

of consolidated net sales. In : car stereo units, and those incorporated in mini -component stereos and 

addition to the favorable recep- : radio-cassette tape recorders, confirming its status as the leading company 

tion of a whole new range of 

CD players, sales of mini-

• in CD players. Sales of separate component units ranging from low-priced 

: models to the top-of-the-line products for discriminating audiophiles in-. 
component stereos and radio- • 

creased with the introduction of new models with expanded functions 

and higher sound quality. Sales in the U.S. posted large gains with the 
cassette tape recorders equipped 

• favorable reception of models that have a five-disc autochanger. Portable 
with CD players turned in a 

• models were further miniaturized and made lighter, with higher sound 
strong performance. Headphone 

quality reproduction added. 
stereo cassette players and car 

stereos also showed solid gains. 

600 
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. 
• Component Stereos 

• Sales of mini-component stereos equipped with CD players, offering 

: superior sound and functions, expanded particularly in the Japanese and 

• European markets. Separate components, such as amplifiers, tuners, and 

• cassette decks, were upgraded to offer higher sound quality. In DAT (digital 

: audio tape) decks, we were able to offer new models at lower prices . 
• 

• Radio-Cassette Tape Recorders 
• 
: The percentage of radio-cassette tape recorders equipped with CD players 

continues to rise. Sophisticated capabilities, superior sound quality, and 

• vivid bass reproduction afforded from the addition of CD players to these 

• units helped support growth in this category for the year under review . 

. 
• Headphone Stereo Cassette Players 

: In the summer of 1989, Sony's Walkman will mark a full decade since 
• 
: introduction. Since the commercialization of the Walkman and the creation 

• of a whole new way to enjoy music anytime and anywhere, we have con-
• 
: tinued to develop new models offering higher sound quality and increased 

: functions, and have continued to make advances in miniaturization. Sony 

• has therefore been and remains the leader in the market for headphone 

: stereo cassette players. Ever since Sony gave music a new dimension when 
• 
• it invented the Walkman, we have offered a range of unique new products 

to satisfy diverse consumer preferences, including a super-compact model 

: and the Wireless Walkman, which does not require cords to connect the 

: headphones to the player. 

9 



..................... 
The Wireless Walkman 
transmits FM waves directly 
from the player to a wireless 
receiver at the tip of the 
headphone cords, thereby 
eliminating the need for a 
cord to connect the player 
and headphones and in
creasing the freedom of 
movement of the listener. 

..................... 
Quickly becoming one of 
our best-selling products 
following its introduction in 
Japan in autumn 1988, the 
new model in the Liberty 
series of mini-component 
stereos has earned much 
praise for its excellent 
sound quality, expanded 
number of functions, ease 
of operation, and superior 
design. 
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Car Stereos 

In car stereos, demand for high sound quality and equipment with a 

variety of functions is growing, and Sony is responding by introducing 

new products centering on CD players. 

Other Consumer Audio Products 

The new series of audio equipment designed for children called "My First 

. . . 
• Sony" continues to earn high praise for safe, easy operation, and fashionable • 

design. 

Radio sales expanded with the active introduction of new products designed 

to meet diversified needs, from ultra-slim card-type models to multiband 

radios capable of tuning in to broadcasts from overseas. 

To meet the rising European demand for audiotape, we began operation 

of an audiocassette tape factory in Rovereto, Italy, in the fall of 1988 to 

supplement the capacity of the facility in Bayonne, France. 

Professional-Use Audio Equipment 

Professional-use audio equipment business expanded based primarily on 

digital audio tape recorders, digital processors, CD players, CD mastering 

systems, and microphones. In December 1988, we introduced the world's 

first 48-channel multitrack digital tape recorder, incorporating the DASH 

format used by major recording studios around the world. 

........................... 
: Sony has actively introduced new 
: products for automobiles that make 
• use of the superior sound and ease 
: of operation of CD players, and 
• leads the rapidly expanding market 
• for car CO players. 

. 
• . 
• . 
• 

. 
• 

. ......................... . 
: The PCM-3348 ($240, 000 in the U.S.) 
: represents Sony's response to the 
• growing use of multitrack recording 
• in the music and movie industries . 
• and employs the DASH format, 
: which was developed by Sony and 
: two other companies in 1982. This 
: format, using a stationary head, 
: expands the possibility of tape 
• compatibility on a worldwide scale . 

. . . 
• 
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Televisions 

Television sales for the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 1989, 

rose 8.4°tb, to ¥342 billion 

($2,589 million), accounting 
. \ 

for 15.9°tb of consolidated net 

• Home-Use TVs 

: The year under review marked the 20th anniversary since the introduction 

• of Sony's Trinitron color television, with the cumulative number of units . 
: produced topping 40 million in June 1988. In response to increased usage . 
• of high quality video like ED Beta, satellite broadcast reception systems, 

sales. Surging Japanese demand : and videodisc players, we continued to expand our lineup of Trinitron 

for large-screen sets supported 

gains in color TV sales. In 

professional-use equipment, 

sales of computer displays 

posted increases in all 

geographic areas, particularly 

in the U.S. 
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• sets offering large screens and high quality pictures. Sony introduced in 

• Japan the 27" Trinitron and the 43" Trinitron, which feature improved 

• screen quality. These were developed through the application of Sony's 

: original digital image processing technology. 

• HDTV Monitors . 
• For the 1988 Summer Olympic Games in Seoul, an HDTV broadcast of 

: the events was conducted with HDTV receivers placed around Japan. Sony's 

: HDTV Trinitron color monitors were also used, gaining a stronger reputa

: tion. In preparation for the future initiation of HDTV broadcasts, Sony will 

: continue to expand product development. 

• Satellite Broadcast Reception Systems 

• Demand in Japan for satellite broadcast reception systems surged for the 

: Seoul Olympics, and Sony actively pursued market expansion through the 

: introduction of new products with higher quality pictures and sound . . 
• 
• Development of Overseas Operations 

• In Europe and the U.S., we have created local organizations for television 

• operations to cover all stages of product planning, design, and sales. In the 

: future, we plan to strengthen production capacity of the Malaysian factory, 

: which began operation in May 1988. 

: Professional-Use Monitors 
• 
• Sony's Trinitron color picture tubes have an extremely high reputation 

• for superior picture quality and resolution required in such applications 

: as broadcast- and professional-use monitors and industrial-use displays. 

: Many computer makers, including those in the U.S., use Sony's computer ...... .. .. ... .. ........ ...... .... . 
• displays, and sales remained firm for the year under review. In the area of 

100 • graphic displays, there is a growing trend for larger screens that can handle 
...... ...... ....... ...... .... . 

: a lot of data. In response to this trend, Sony has developed the world's 

0 
• largest-capacity color display, measuring 20" X 20" with a matrix dispersion 

-
'85 '86 '87* '88 '89 

* Five·month fiscal period ended March 31, 1987 
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..................... 
With the growing trend 
toward large, high quality 
screens, Sony introduced 
the 43" Trinitron, the world's 
largest direct-viewing color 
television, which eliminates 
screen flickering through 
the use of a large-capacity 
digital memory (nonsimu
lated photograph) . 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
With the introduction of the 
lndextron picture tube, Sony 
has succeeded in producing 
a compact and lightweight 
cubic color television. 
Incorporating an alarm 
clock and a timer, this 
cubic television can be 
enjoyed in the bedroom, 
kitchen, office, or even 
in automobiles (picture 
simulated). 
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........................... 
Sony's giant display system 
JumboTron is being used in this 
indoor stadium in Texas, giving fans 
a clear picture of both live action 
and VTR instant replays from any 
seat in the stadium. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Sony's ultrahigh-resolution color 
display provides a clearer picture 
than 35mm film and can display 
more than 67,000 characters. Its 
display capabilities, both in area 
and information storage capacity, 
are four times greater than regular 
CAD/CAM displays (image 
reproduced from actual display 
screen). 
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: of 2,048 dots X 2,048 lines. Demand from a wide range of fields is expected, 
• 
: particularly in applications for air traffic control, CAD/CAM, medical . 
• science, and publishing. 

• In response to a growing U.S. market for computer displays, Sony will 

• expand production capacity in the U.S. by enlarging production facilities 

at the San Diego plant. 

• 
Giant Display Systems . 

• Sony's giant display system JumboTron has been installed at many locations, 

including the Yokohama Exotic Showcase '89, in japan, and an indoor 
• : domed sports arena in Toronto, Canada. In the future, we expect demand 

: from sports arenas, halls, all types of events, and promotional and 
• 
: advertising fields to continue to grow. . 
• • . 
• Professional-Use Projectors 

• Sony holds the top position in the market for professional-use projectors, 

: and has received considerable support for airline, business presentation, . 
• and computer uses . 

. 
• . 
• • • • 

• 

. 
• 

. 
• • 
. . 
• 
. 
• . 
• • 
. 
• 



Other Products 

Sales in the Other products 

segment rose 21.6°/0 for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 

1989, to ¥329 billion ($2,493 

million), accounting for 15.3°/0 

of consolidated net sales. In 

addition to growth in mainstay 

semiconductors and 3.5-inch 

• Semiconductors . 
• Semiconductor sales for the year under review were supported by favorable 

• demand for devices for consumer electronics equipment, showing growth 

: centering on bipolar ICs, metal oxide semiconductor (MOS) devices, such . 
• as static random access memory chips (SRAMs), and charge-coupled devices 

• (CCDs). Total annual semiconductor production reached Y125 billion 

($94 7 million), with out-of-house sales accounting for 50%. 

: We have expanded production facilities at our semiconductor manufacturing 
• 

MFD (micro floppydisk) • subsidiary Sony Nagasaki Corporation. This subsidiary carries out the wafer 

systems, the computer business • processing of SRAMs and will begin integrated production of CCD area 

witnessed dramatic growth. : image sensors in summer 1989. In order to meet the growing demand for 

: semiconductors in Southeast Asia, Sony Semiconductor (Thailand) Co., Ltd., 

: was established in December 1988. Production of bipolar ICs for consumer 

400 
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• 
• electronics equipment is scheduled to start at the beginning of 1990 . . 
• 
: In February 1989, Sony announced that it had succeeded in developing 

• the world's first high-speed four-megabit SRAM that uses state-of-the-art 

• 0.5-micron precision processing technology. An extremely wide range of 

• applications, from computer main memories to digital microprocessors 

• for consumer electronics, makes this next-generation chip a promising 

• development. . 
• 

: Computers . 
• Sony maintained its considerable position in the market with its 32-bit . 
• super workstation NEWS, used primarily in the field of software develop-

• ment, because of its competitive pricing and ability to network with other 

• workstations and computers. During the fiscal year under review, we in-

: troduced the pop NEWS series-which is reasonably priced, compact, and 

• easy to operate-to meet the growing needs for workstations for desktop 

: publishing and other office automation areas. We also introduced the 

• QuarterL 32-bit PC, which is IBM PC/ AT compatible and capable of 

running programs with japanese-language operating systems, to increase 

office efficiency in handling documents. 

: Computer Peripherals 

100 • Sales of Sony's 3.5-inch micro floppydisk system were supported by 

• favorable conditions in the market for personal computers, and showed 

0 
• growth centering on the U.S. market. During the year under review, we 

'85 '86 '87* '88 '89 
*Five-month fiscal period ended March 31, 1987 
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..................... 
Sony introduced a new 
model of its Produce 
Japanese-language word 
processors, incorporating a 
built-in two-inch data disk 
and convenient detachable 
printer, making the word 
processor itself easier to 
carry. It has already gained 
a good reputation among 
users . 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Sony's super workstation 
NEWS and the AX personal 
computer QuarterL were 
designed to improve effi
ciency in handling docu
ments at the office through 
high-speed document and 
information processing, a 
wide variety of software 
applications, and convenient 
networking capability 
(image reproduced from 
actual display screen). 
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began local production of disk drives in the U.S., supplementing production 

of micro floppydisks. 

Also, sample shipments of large memory data storage devices using DAT 

technology based on standards proposed by Sony jointly with the 

Hewlett-Packard Company were commenced in April1989. 

CD-ROMs (compact disc-read-only memories), which use CDs for data 

storage and retrieval systems, are starting to pick up in the personal com

puter market. In addition to using them as peripherals for NEWS and 

QuarterL, Sony is actively promoting OEM business. 

. 
• 

. 
• • 

. .......................... . 
• 

Sony started marketing erasable magneto-optical disk systems, primarily for : In summer 1988, work was 
: completed on a state-of-the-art 

storing large volumes of data that are found in desktop publishing and text • clean room at Sony Nagasaki, 

files, which conform to international standards, have large memory capaci

ties despite their size. At the end of 1988, Sony introduced them as 

peripherals for NEWS and has begun to produce -them on an OEM basis. 

Telecommunications Equipment 

In telecommunications equipment, sales of integrated telephone answering 

machines and cordless phones for the home are doing well. Also, Sony 

• which was established as a . 
• production plant for advanced MOS 
• devices. Production of SRAMs was 
: commenced in autumn 1988. . . 

has commercialized a professional-use still-picture communications system, • 

taking advantage of the newly implemented ISDN (integrated services digital • 

network), which is comprised of a Hi-Band still-video camera recorder 

that offers 500 horizontal lines of resolution and a multifunction terminal 

to handle video stills, voice, and text transmission (one screen can be sent : 

in about 10 seconds). 

Audiovisual Systems for Airplanes 

ACSES-an audio and video entertainment system for airline passengers 

developed jointly with Trans Com Systems, a division of the U.S. company 

Sundstrand Corporation-is being adopted by All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd., 

of japan. In May 1989, Sony USA Inc. entered into an agreement with 

Sundstrand to acquire Trans Com Systems. 

. 

. .......................... . 
: Sony develops unique factory auto
: mation (FA) technologies for its own 
• manufacturing processes. It also 
• actively markets these technologies 
• to other companies. During the 
• year under review, Sony supplied 
: SMART (Sony Multi-Assembling 
: Robot Technology), an automated 
• system used for assembling preci
: sion parts, to Polaroid Corp., of 
• the U.S . 

. 
• 

. 
• 

17 



Record Business 

Record division sales for the 

year under review were Y340 

billion ($2,577 million), con-

• CBS Records Inc. 

• A long list of artists contributed to record division results in the U.S. and 

• around the world, including such established superstars as Michael jackson, 

stituting 15.9o,b of consolidated : George Michael, Bruce Springsteen, Gloria Estefan and Miami Sound Machine, 

net sales. This marked the first : Pink Floyd, Bar bra Streisand, Sad~ and Terence Trent D 'Arby. CBS Records 

complete year of operations 

since the acquisition, and both 

CBS Records Inc., including 

overseas subsidiaries, and 

CBS/Sony Group Inc. in Japan 

turned in extremely favorable 

results. 

Murray Perahia 's progress from 
prodigy to international star con
tinues to accelerate: the Sony 
Classical artist won a Grammy for 
his acclaimed duet with Sir George 
Solti on Bartok's Sonata for Two 
Pianos and Percussion, and he was 
honored as Ovation magazine's 
1988 Artist of the Year. 
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: also continued its successful development of new artists, including Basia, 

• New Kids on the Block, Living Colour, and Britny Fox. The market for 

• music is becoming increasingly international, and overseas subsidiaries 

• of CBS Records posted gains, particularly in Europe. 

Columbia House, a division for the direct marketing of recorded music in 

the U.S. and Canada, saw increased sales, primarily in the Compact Disc 

: Club, although the greatest strides were made in the CBS Video Club, 

: which markets films and other home video products. CBS Records, in . 
: order to strengthen its music publishing operations, acquired Tree . 
• Publishing Co., Inc., the world's largest country music publisher. In classical 

• music, Sony established Sony Classical G.m.b.H., in Hamburg, West 

• Germany, in january 1989 to handle planning, production, and marketing 

• activities from the heart of the classical European market. In recording 

• and mastering, the latest in digital tape recording and mastering equipment 

• will be supplied by Sony. CBS Music Video Enterprises set up its own 

• distribution system worldwide, and enjoyed its best sales year with home 

• video releases by Michael jackson, Bruce Springsteen, George Michael, and 

• other well-known music artists. 

CBS/Sony Group Inc. 

• CBS/Sony Group recorded large gains in overall sales, supported by 

• brisk sales of releases by such japanese artists as Toshinobu Kubota and 

• TM Network and by the rapid expansion of its video software business. 

• CBS/Sony Group's low-priced video software contributed to soaring sales 

of music and movie videos. In fall 1989, production of videodiscs in japan 

• is scheduled to begin. 

• CD Software Business 

• Sony has unrivaled CD production capacity in the world, with plants in 

• japan, Austria, and the U.S. In the future, Sony will continue to stress global 

: development of its software business, primarily CDs, in response to growing 

• demand trends. 



..................... 
With his album Faith, 
an international best-seller 
for a second consecutive 
year, George Michael con
tinued to establish himself 
as a major superstar in the 
CBS Records tradition, as 
his first solo concert tour 
added to his following and 
his multimillion album sales. 

Toshinobu Kubota's Such 
a Funky Thang! was the 
best-selling album in 1988 
for CBS/Sony Group. His 
music video was also a 
big hit during the year. 
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Financial Review 

For the year under review, in 

compliance with the Statement of 

Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 94, consolidation was based 

on majority rather than 100% 

ownership. Most of Sony's majmrity

owned subsidiaries, previously ac

counted for by the equity method, 

are now treated as consolidated 

subsidiaries. Financial data for the 

year ended March 31, 1988, has 

been restated to comply with this 

new accounting standard. (See note 

2 of the Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements.) 

Analysis of Operations 

Sales of video equipment, audio 

equipment, televisions, and other 

products turned in a gain of 19.0%. 

Full 12-month sales figures from 

the record business were added to 

net sales for the first time. The 

addition of record business sales 

boosted consolidated net sales for 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2,000 

1,500 

1,000 

Net Sales by Product Group 

(Billion¥) 

1989, to Y2,l45.3 billion ($16,252 

million), a jump of 37.9% over the 

previous 12-month period. Sales for 

the record business for the year 

under review reached Y340.2 billion 

($2,577 million). This was a 

substantial rise compared with 

Y38.8 billion of the previous year 

registered from January 6, 1988, 

to March 31, 1988, following the 

January 5, 1988, acquisition of 

CBS Records Inc. and its affiliated 

companies. 

televisions for the Japanese market, 

and by micro floppydisk systems 

bound for the United States and 

Europe. Backed by robust sales of 

NEWS, computer sales in Japan 

expanded rapidly. Buoyed by a 

favorable upswing in the record 

business in the Japanese and over

seas markets from a large number 

of hit songs released during the year 

under review and the previously 

mentioned strong market for con

sumer and industrial electronics, 

sales soared 35.9% in Japan, 34.9% 

in the U.S., 41.7% in Europe, and 

42.5% in other overseas markets. 
camcorders, and audio equipment-

Sales in Japan accounted for 34.1% 

In consumer electronics, sales of 

8mm video products, including 

particularly CD players-recorded 

strong performances in all markets. 

As for industrial electronics, sales 

of Betacam SP and other broadcast

use VTRs, computer displays, and 

semiconductors registered significant 

sales increases across all geographic 

areas. In addition, healthy gains 

were made by large screen color 

2,000 

1,500 

Net Sales by Area 

(Billion¥) 

of consolidated net sales, with 

overseas sales accounting for 65.9%, 

a 0.5 percentage point increase 

compared with the previous year. 

Operating income for the 

year under review marked a 

164.6% increase, to Y160.5 billion 

($1,216 million). This was due not 

150 

100 

Operating Income 

(Billion¥) 

.. so:· ··· .. ····l ... l ........... l .... lm .. ~O.: ........... ~ .. ··· ·~ m .. . .... l ... .. l ··· 
50 

0 I 
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• Televisions 
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only to strong performances in 

electronics, but also earnings con

tributions from the record business. 

The ratio of cost of sales to net 

sales achieved a hefty 5.0 percentage 

point decline from the previous 

year, to 68.8%, resulting from an 

increase in sales, successful cost

cutting efforts on the manufacturing 

side, and the positive contribution 

of a low cost of sales to net sales 

ratio for the record business. 

The ratio of selling, general and 

administrative expenses to net sales 

increased 1.9 percentage points, 

primarily due to the effect from the 

record business, which has a high 

ratio of selling expenses. Overall, the 

ratio of operating income to net sales 

climbed 3.6 percentage points, to 

7.5%, from the previous year's 3.9%. 

Other income grew 5.0%, to ¥60.0 

billion ($455 million), during the 

year under review. Although the 

foreign exchange gain contracted, 

interest received, which increased 

22 

due to the rise in short-term interest Equity in earnings of affiliated 

rates, contributed to an overall gain companies fell 69.0%, to ¥2.1 billion 

in other income. ($16 million). This was due 

primarily to the consolidation of 
Other expenses rose 19.6%, to ¥55.0 

CBS/ Sony Group Inc., which had 
billion ($417 million). This increase 

was due primarily to interest pay-

ments on loans used to fund the 

acquisition of CBS Records Inc. and 

the rise in short-term interest rates. 

Interest payments were ¥32.6 billion 

($24 7 million), up 19.7% over the 

previous year. 

Income before income taxes 

climbed 130.4%, to ¥165.5 billion 

($1,254 million), for the year under 

review. Income taxes were up 

129.5%, to ¥95.2 billion ($721 

previously been accounted for under 

the equity method. It became a 

consolidated subsidiary when Sony 

acquired CBS Inc:s interest in the 

former 50%-50% joint venture as 

part of the purchase of CBS Records 

Inc. on january 5, 1988. 

Net income posted a 94.6% gain, to 

¥72.5 billion ($549 million). The 

ratio of net income to net sales 

advanced to 3.4%, from the 2.4% 

for the previous year. Primary net . 

income per Depositary Share (each 
million), and income taxes as a 

Depositary Share represents one 
percentage of income before income 

share of Common Stock) increased 
taxes was 57.5%, down slightly from 

the 57.7% for the previous year. 

As a result, income from consoli

dated companies reached ¥70.3 bil

lion ($533 million), an increase of 

131.6% over the previous year. 

to ¥241.7 ($1.83), up from the 

¥151.0 for the previous year, and 

fully diluted net income per 

Depositary Share increased to 

¥240.8 ($1.82), up from the ¥145.7 

for the previous year. 



Capital Resources 

and Financial Position 

To encourage active expansion of 

operations and maintain a healthy 

financial position, Sony continued 

to pursue aggressive financing and 

investment programs during the 

year under review. 

In April 1988, Sony issued 20 mil

lion shares of Common Stock in a 

public offering in Japan. In the 

same month, the Company also 

issued 1. 4% unsecured convertible 

bonds due September 30, 2003, 

amounting to ¥92 billion ($697 

million). Both public offerings were 

made outside the U.S. and Canada 

to non-U.S. and non -Canadian 

persons. Proceeds from these stock 

and bond issues came to approxi

mately ¥200 billion ($1,515 million), 

400 

300 

Net Working Capital 

(Billion¥) 

and were used primarily to repay the issuance of Common Stock in 

short-term borrowings, replace in- a public offering and convertible 

ternal funds, and to invest in sub- bonds in April1988 to repay short-

sidiaries, all of which were required term borrowings and replace inter-

to finance the acquisition of CBS nal funds, both of which were 

Records Inc. (See note 10 of the required to finance the acquisition 

Notes to Consolidated Financial of CBS Records Inc., as well as in-

Statements.) creases in net income and depreci

To meet the increased demand 

for funds, both domestically and 

ation and amortization realized from 

the favorable business environment. 

abroad, Sony issued ¥50 billion Depreciation and amortization 

($379 million) of commercial paper increased to ¥125.8 billion ($953 

in Japan in April 1989. million), up 36.0% over the previous 

Net cash provided by operating 

activities amounted to ¥164.0 billion 

($1,24 3 million). Net working 

capital increased ¥17 4. 4 billion 

($1,321 million), from the previous 

period's ¥140.4 billion, to ¥314.8 

billion ($2,385 million). This 

substantial increase was due to 

125 

100 

75 

Depreciation and Amortization 

(Billion¥) 

year's amount. This figure includes 

amortization of intangible and other 

assets acquired through the purchase 

of CBS Records Inc. 

Capital investments for the 

year ended March 31, 1989, were 

increased 60.8% from the previous 

year's ¥134.0 billion to ¥215.6 billion 

200 

150 

Capital Investments 

(Billion¥) 

200 100 

50 
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25 
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-
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($1,633 million). The increased ex

penditures were primarily used for 

expanding production facilities to 

meet rising demand for semicon

ductors, magnetic products, display 

and image devices, and audio and 

video equipment. In accordance 

with our plan to expand and bolster 

our overseas production facilities, 

we have scheduled an ouday of 

¥250 billion for capital investments, 

in the year ending March 31, 1990. 

Research and development expen

ditures increased 10.4% from the 

previous year's ¥128.7 billion to 

¥14 2.1 billion ($1 ,076 million); 

R&D Expenditures and Percent of Net Sales 
(Billion¥) 

150 

100 

50 

0 

.... .. .... .. 1 ...... .. .. .. .. .. 
I - I I 
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however the ratio of R&D expenses 

to net sales declined from the previ

ous year's 8.3% to 6.6%, following 

the dramatic increase in net sales. 

For over five years now, Sony has 

allocated 6% to 9% of its consoli

dated net sales to R&D, exemplify

ing its belief that aggressive R&D 

activities are crucial to securing 

long-term growth, and has every 

intention of maintaining this ratio 

in the future. 

As of March 31, 1989, total assets 
of Sony and its · consolidated sub

sidiaries were ¥2,364.8 billion 

($17,915 million), marking a 21.6% 

increase from ¥1,945.4 billion, the 

Total Assets and Stockholders' Equity 
(Billion¥) 

2,500 

2,000 

1,500 
··· ····· ·· ····· ··············· ... .......... ... . .. ... . . ... . 

1,000 
-

500 

Ill 1 ... l 
0 

'85 '86 '87 '88 '89 
• Expenditures • Total assets 

Percent of net sales Stockholders' equity 
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figure as of March 31, 1988. Stock

holders' equity soared 41.1 %, to 

¥911.8 billion ($6,908 million), as 

of March 31, 1989. This is attrib

utable to increases in common 

stock and additional paid-in capital 

stemming from the issuance of new 

Common Stock, the conversion of 

convertible bonds, and the exercise 

of warrants, coupled with a rise in 

net income. Stockholders' equity 

per Depositary Share was ¥3,226.49 

($24.44 ), based on the number 

of shares outstanding as of March 

31, 1989. 

Stockholders' Equity per Depositary Share 
(¥) 

4,000 

3,000 

2,000 
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Quarterly Financial and Stock Information (Unaudited) 

Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries · Year ended March 31 

Millions of U.S. dollars 
Billions of yen except per share amounts except per share amounts 

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 4th Quarter 
1988 1989 1988 1989 1988 1989 1988 1989 1989 

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) 

Net sales ... .... ... ... .. ......................... .... .... ¥337.8 ¥463.6 ¥361.4 ¥528.7 ¥448.7 ¥613.8 ¥407.4 ¥539.3 $4,085.2 
Cost of sales ......................................... 257.5 319.7 269.6 364.4 328.1 424.1 291.8 367.1 2,781.0 
Selling, general and 

administrative expenses ...... .. .......... 80.5 122.8 82.8 132.8 100.5 147.7 116.5 162.4 1,230.1 
Operating income .......... .... .... ............. . 5.4 30.6 15.2 42.9 30.0 55.1 10.0 31.8 241.3 
Interest income and expense-net... (2.3) (4.1) (3.0) (2.4) (2.3) (1.9) (4.2) (1.5) (11.7) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) .. .... .. .. .. 2.2 3.9 (0.5) (7.0) 5.6 5.8 6.5 2.2 16.5 
Income before income taxes ...... .... ... 10.3 35.9 10.9 32.1 32.1 63.0 18.5 34.5 261.5 
Income taxes ........................... ............. 9.2 20.3 8.2 19.5 14.1 34.7 10.0 20.7 156.7 
Net income ....... ....... ... ...... .. ............... ... 3.2 16.1 4.8 13.1 20.0 28.9 9.2 14.4 109.0 

Net income per Depositary Share: 
Primary ............ ..... ..... ......... .......... ..... ¥ 14.0 ¥ 57.2 ¥ 20.3 ¥ 43.7 ¥ 78.9 ¥ 94.4 ¥ 36.4 ¥ 46.9 $ 0.36 
Fully diluted .... .................................. 14.0 55.2 19.6 42.7 74.9 93.3 35.3 46.6 0.35 

Depreciation and amortization ......... ¥ 20.0 ¥ 25.8 ¥ 21.7 ¥ 27.6 ¥ 23.7 ¥ 33.6 ¥ 27.2 ¥ 38.8 $ 294.3 
Capital investments 

(additions to fixed assets) ............... 27.3 44.9 31.5 53.3 33.4 45.2 41.9 72.3 547.6 
R&D expenditures .... ......... ............. .... 34.1 33.0 29.2 35.6 32.3 34.9 33.1 38.6 292.2 

Tokyo Stock Exchange price 
per share of Common Stock: 
High .... ............ .......... ......... ....... ...... .... ¥4,450 ¥5,700 ¥5,650 ¥7,260 ¥5,710 ¥7,290 ¥5,360 ¥7,570 
Low .. ..... ... ................. .. .............. .. ........ 2,560 5,010 3,850 5,090 3,800 5,660 4,600 6,610 

New York Stock Exchange price 
per American Depositary Share: 
High ..... .... ... .................................. ...... $29 % $ 45 1/4 $38 $54 1/4 $40 1/4 $58 1/2 $42 $59 7/s 
Low ...... .. ... .......... ...... ..... ... .... .... ...... .... 18 1/4 38 1/4 25 5/a 37 3/4 25 1/s 45 1/s 35 3/s 50 1

/4 

Notes: 1. U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of¥132-U.S.$ 1, the Tokyo foreign exchange market rate as of 
March 31, 1989, as described in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2. Primary net income per Depositary Share is computed based on the average number of common shares outstanding during each period after consideration 
of the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents which include warrants and certain convertible bonds. Fully diluted net income per Depositary Share 
further assumes that all other convertible bonds and debentures were converted into common stock. 

3. Commencing April 1, 1988, Sony adopted the policy of consolidating its previously unconsolidated subsidiaries to comply with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 94. Financial data for each quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 1988, have been restated to comply with this new 
accounting standard. Previously reported net sales for the respective periods were increased by ¥26,415 million for the first quarter, ¥28,859 million for 
the second quarter, ¥40,050 million for the third quarter, and ¥28,673 million for the fourth quarter, as a result of this change. The effect of the change on 
net income for the respective periods was insignificant. 
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Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data 
Sony Corporation and consol idated subsid iaries 

Thousands of 
Millions of yen U.S. dollars except 

except per share amounts per share amounts 

Year ended October 31 Year ended March 31 
Year ended March 31 , 

1984 1985 1986 (Restated) 1987* (Restated) 1988 (Restated) 1989 1989 

FOR THE FISCAL PERIOD 
Net sales: 

Overseas .... .. ... ...... .. ....... ............... ¥ 916,487 ¥1,054,274 ¥ 1,001,751 ¥ 397,494 ¥1,017,277 ¥1,414,032 $10,712,363 
japan .......... ..... .. ..... ... ..................... 345,059 366,511 450,339 211 ,931 537,942 731 ,297 5,540,129 
Total ..... .... .. ...... ... ...... .. .. ...... .... .. .... 1,261,546 1,420,785 1,452,090 609,425 1,555,219 2,145,329 16,252,492 

Operating income ......... ... ... ..... ...... 131,769 133,684 42,144 19,477 60,664 160,499 1,215,902 
Income before income taxes ..... .. 140,376 141,911 84,128 25,626 71,836 165,516 1,253,909 
Income taxes .... .... ...... ... ......... ..... .... 77,165 78,023 48,802 16,1 05 41,465 95,176 721 ,030 
Net income ......... ...... ..... .... .... ... ... .. .. 71,431 73,021 41,244 13,254 37,236 72,469 549,008 

Net income per Depositary Share: 
Primary ....... .... ... ... ........................ 309.3 316.0 178.4 57.3 151.0 241.7 1.83 
Fully diluted ... ........ ..... .. .. .... ...... .. 289.8 292.5 166.6 54.2 145.7 240.8 1.82 

Depreciation and amortization ... 56,478 72,025 86,029 37,261 92,511 125,790 952,955 
Capital investments 

(additions to fixed assets) ... ....... 80,386 130,416 105,207 58,150 134,049 215,613 1,633,432 
R&D expenditures .... ... .... .............. 99,925 110,636 122,383 51,182 128,707 142,077 1,076,341 

AT FISCAL PERIOD-END 
Net working capital ...... ................. ¥ 273,687 ¥ 318,610 ¥ 359,405 ¥ 347,935 ¥ 140,353 ¥ 314,777 $ 2,384,674 
Stockholders' equity ....... .. ... ........ .. 542,180 599,163 600,059 603,816 646,076 911 ,816 6,907,697 
Stockholders' equity 

per Depositary Share ... ..... .. ........ 2,347.87 2,592.12 2,595.13 2,611.25 2,705.86 3,226.49 24.44 
Total assets ...................... .. .. .. .. ....... . 1,309,659 1,447,261 1,532,919 1,477,565 1,945,447 2,364,775 17,914,962 

Average number of shares 
outstanding during the fiscal 
period (thousands of shares) .... 230,923 231,043 231,223 231,236 249,600 303,941 

Number of shares issued 
at fiscal period-end 
(thousands of shares) ....... .. ........ 230,924 231,148 231,225 231,236 238,769 282,603 

Notes: l. U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥132 - U.S.$1, the Tokyo foreign exchange market rate as of 
March 31, 1989, as described in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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2. Primary net income per Depositary Share is computed based ·on the average number of common shares outstanding during each period after consideration 
of the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents which include warrants and certain convertible bonds. Fully diluted net income per Depositary Share 
further assumes that all other convertible bonds and debentures were converted into common stock. 

3. Stockholders ' equity per Depositary Share is based on the number of shares issued at fiscal period-end. 
4. Commencing April1, 1988, Sony adopted the policy of consolidating its previously unconsolidated subsidiaries to comply with Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards No. 94. Financial data for the year ended October 31 , 1986, for the five-month period ended March 31 , 1987 and for the year 
ended March 31, 1988 have been restated to comply with this new accounting standard. Previously reported net sales for the respective periods were 
increased by ¥126,932 million, ¥61,676 million and ¥123,997 million, as a result of this change. The effect of the change on net income for the respective 
periods was insignificant. 

* Five-month fiscal period ended March 31, 1987. 



Composition of Net Sales by Area and Product Group 
Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries 

Thousands of 
Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

Year ended October 31 Year ended March 31 Year ended March 31, 
1984 1985 1986 (Restated) 1987* (Restated) 1988 (Restated) 1989 1989 

Sales by Area 
japan .... .... .... .. ..... ... ..... ......... .... ¥ 345,059 ¥ 366,511 ¥ 450,339 ¥211,931 ¥ 537,942 ¥ 731,297 $ 5,540,129 

27.4% 25.8% 31.0% 34.8% 34.6% 34.1% 

United States .... ... .. ........... ..... . 428,207 477,559 435,214 164,523 434,473 .586,278 4,441,500 
33.9 33.6 30.0 27.0 27.9 27.3 

Europe ....... .. .. .... ............... ....... 220,788 249,123 315,045 146,441 351,262 497,842 3,771,530 
17.5 17.5 21.7 24.0 22.6 23.2 

Other areas .................. ...... .. ... 267,492 327,592 251,492 86,530 231,542 329,912 2,499,333 
21.2 23.1 17.3 14.2 14.9 15.4 

Net sales ......... ................ ......... ¥ 1,261,546 ¥1,420,785 ¥1,452,090 ¥609,425 ¥1,555,219 ¥2,145,329 $16,252,492 

Sales by Product Group 
Video equipment .. ... ..... ... ..... ¥ 512,041 ¥ 515,531 ¥ 480,940 ¥188,712 ¥ 451,064 ¥ 573,493 $ 4,344,644 

40.6% 36.3% 33.1% 30.9% 29.0% 26.7% 

Audio equipment ........ .......... 271,517 338,356 414,957 189,963 479,484 560,772 4,248,272 
21.5 23.8 28.6 31.2 30.8 26.2 

Televisions ... ...... ............ ......... 297,172 364,827 331,645 129,041 315,322 341,800 2,589,394 
23.6 25.7 22.8 21.2 20.3 15.9 

Other products ...................... 180,816 202,071 224,548 101,709 270,529 329,076 2,493,000 
14.3 14.2 15.5 16.7 17.4 15.3 

Records ** .... ..... ..... ........ ...... .. . 38,820 340,188 2,577,182 
2.5 15.9 

Net sales ....... ..... ......... ..... ........ ¥ 1,261,546 ¥1,420,785 ¥1,452,090 ¥609,425 ¥1,555,219 ¥2,145,329 $16,252,492 

**On january 5, 1988, Sony purchased CBS Inc.'s Records Group and now holds 100% of the shares of CBS Records Inc. and related overseas subsidiaries, as well 
as CBS Inc.'s share of the joint venture CBS/ Sony Group Inc. The figure for the Records category for the year ended March 31, 1988 represents sales for the 
period from january 6, 1988 to March 31, 1988. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) .............................................................................................. ¥ 
Time deposits (Note 10) .............................................................................. .................... ...... ........ .. 
Marketable securities (Note 8) ............... ....... ................................................................................ .. 
Notes and accounts receivable, trade (Note 7) ....................... ...... ............................................ .. 
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns ................ ...................... ............................ . 
Inventories (Note 6) .................... ...................... ..................................... ............. ............................. . 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................................................................................ . 
Income tax prepayments ............................................................ .. ................................................... . 

I etal current assets ....................... ............ .................... ................. .. ...................................... . 

Investments and advances: 
Affiliated companies (N©te 7) ....................................................................................................... .. 
Directors, officers and employees ................................................................................................ .. 
Security investments and other (Note 8) .................. ..... ... .... ..................................................... .. 

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 10 and 15): 
Land ..................................................................................................................................................... . 
Buildings .................... .................. ..................... .... ................... ................ ........................................... . 
Machinery and equipment. ............................................................................................................ .. 
Construction in progress ..................... ........................................................................................... . 

Less-Accumulated depreciation ................................................................................................... . 

Other assets (Notes 4 and 9): 
Intangibles ............................................... ................................................................... ... ..................... . 
Other .............................. .. ................................................................................................................... . 

Millions of yen 

March 31 

1988 

214,874 
72,939 
56,667 

365,482 
(29,788) 
358,059 

58,881 
46,257 

1,143,371 

14,968 
2,344 

84,678 

101,990 

76,555 
241,241 
595,813 

18,265 

931,874 
478,265 

453,609 

123,704 
122,773 

246,477 

¥ 

1989 

297,889 
33,665 
91,115 

432,692 
(32,957) 
483,648 

76,338 
51,408 

1,433,798 

16,015 
2,445 

94,975 

113,435 

86,964 
267,351 
726,564 

24,611 

1,105,490 
560,714 

544,776 

141,779 
130,987 

272,766 

¥1,945,447 ¥2,364,775 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 3) 

March 31, 
1989 

$ 2,256,735 
255,038 
690,265 

3,277,970 
(249,674) 

3,664,000 
578,318 
389,454 

10,862,106 

121,326 
18,523 

719,507 

859,356 

658,818 
2,025,386 
5,504,273 

186,447 

8,374,924 
4,247,833 

4,127,091 

1,074,083 
992,326 

2,066,409 

$17,914,962 



LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities: 
Short-term borrowings (Note 10) ...... ... .. .. .. ... ... .. ...... ........ .... .. .... ... ........ ... ....... .. .... .. ...................... ¥ 
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 10 and 15) ... .. ... ............. ..... .... ........ ............. .... .. .. . . 
Notes and accounts payable, trade (Note 7) ....... .. ... .. ... ..... .... ...... ....... ....... ... ......... ...... .............. . 
Notes payable, construction ................... ........................... ....... .. .... ... ... .. ...... ........... .. .. .... ............... . 
Dividends payable .. ...... ... .. .. ..... ....... .. ......... ....... ......................... ....... ......... ... ................................... . 
Accrued income and other taxes ....... .. .. ... ............. ... ... ............. ... .. .. ........ ... .. .. .... ... ... ..... ... ... ..... .. .. . 
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities .......................... ....... .............. .. ........................ . 

Total current liabilities .. ... ......................... ... .......... ... .. ..... ................ .. .... .... ......... .. ... .. ... .. ... ... . 

Long-term liabilities: 
Long-term debt (Notes 10 and 15) ....... ... ... ... ... .. .. .. ....... ... .. .. ....... ..... ... ... ... ..... ...... ... ..... .... .. ... ... .. . . 
Liability for severance indemnities (Note 11) ... ................ .... ...................... ... ..... .. ... .. ................ . 
Deferred income taxes 

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiary companies .. ................ .......... ........... .... .......... . 

Stockholders' equity (Note 13): 
Common stock, ¥50 par value

Authorized -920,000,000 shares 
Issued: 1988-238,768,767 shares ....... ..... ......... ... .... .... ...... ..... ...... ..... ....... ... ... .. .. ..... .... .. .. ... .. ... . 

1989-282,602,923 shares ........ .. .. ......................... .. .... ... ..... .. ... .... .......... ... ...... ......... .. .. . 
Additional paid-in capital ......... ...... .. .... ...... ... ... .... ...... .. ....................................... ..... .... ... .... ...... ... .. . 
Legal reserve .... .. ............................ ... .......... ......... .... ... ... .... ... ... ... .. .... ............ .......... ..... ...... ........ ....... . . 
Retained earnings appropriated for special allowances ........ ... .. .... ..... ... ... .. ...... ....................... . 
Retained earnings ..... ... ..... .. ....... ...................... .. ...... .... .... ..... .. ... ... ............. .. .. ......................... ... ........ . 
Cumulative translation adjustment ........ ............. ... ... .......... ......... ........ ....... ...... ..... .......... ............. . 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 16) 

Millions of yen 

March 31 

1988 1989 

319,277 ¥ 224,637 
2,758 12,797 

384,654 468,784 
10,011 21 ,323 

5,392 6,461 
52,722 84,752 

228,204 300,267 

1,003,018 1,119,021 

201,127 220,790 
56,387 61,319 
26,863 36,928 

284,377 319,037 

11,976 14,901 

23,665 
114,641 

119,824 232,050 
8,622 10,535 

13,111 16,313 
547,271 600,184 
(66,417) (61,907) 

646,076 911,816 

¥1,945,44 7 ¥2,364,775 

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 3) 

March 31 , 
1989 

$ 1,701 ,795 
96,947 

3,551,394 
161 ,538 

48,947 
642,061 

2,274,750 

8,477,432 

1,672,652 
464,538 
279,757 

2,416,947 

112,886 

868,492 
1,757,955 

79,811 
123,583 

4,546,848 
(468,992) 

6,907,697 

$17,914,962 
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Retained Earnings 
Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries 

Millions of yen 

Sales and operating revenue: 
Net sales-

Year ended 
October 31, 

1986 

Overseas ... .. ......................... .... .. .. .............. ......... .. .... .. .. ... .. .... ... .... .. ¥1,001 ,751 
Japan.................. .. ... .. ............. ....... ...... .............. ...... .. ..... ... .. .......... ... 450,339 

1,452,090 
Operating revenue......... .. ............. .. .... ........ .... .. ............................... 21,543 

1,473,633 

Costs and expenses: 
Cost of sales (Note 14) .. ......... ........................ ........... ................... .. 1,086,659 
Selling, general and administrative ....... ........... ......... .. ... .............. . 344,830 

1,431 ,489 

Operating income ............ ... ....... ... .... ............... ..... .. ... ..... ..... .. ........ . 42,144 

Other income: 
Interest and dividends ........ ................................................. .. .. .... .. . 21,413 
Foreign exchange gain, net .. ..................... .. ..... .. .... .. .... ... .............. . 28,469 
Other ..... .. .... ............... .. .. .. ...... ... ................... .. ...... ..... .............. ...... .. ... . 26,129 

76,011 

Other expenses: 
Interest .. ....... ..... .... ............. ... .... .................. ....... ... ................ ......... .. .. . 24,033 
Other ..... ..... ......... .. .. .... ..... ... .. .. .. ........ .. .. ... ... .. .................. .... .. .. ... ... ... .. . 9,994 

34,027 

Income before income taxes ................. .. ......... ...................... .... .. 84,128 

Income taxes (Note 12): 
Current ...... ........ ....... ...... ........ ..... ....... ... .......... .. .. .. .. ..... .. ..... ............. . . 37,387 
Deferred .... .. ....... ... .... ...... ... .... ........ ..... ... ....... .. .... .......... ....... ......... ..... . 11,415 

48,802 

Income from consolidated companies .. ...................... ...... ... .... . 35,326 
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies (Note 7) ............ . 5,918 

Net income .... .. ............ .... .......... ... ........ .... ........... ..... ..... .... .. ... .......... . 41,244 

Retained earnings: 
Balance, beginning of period ...... ... ......... .. ........ .. .. ....... .. ............... . 485,924 
Common stock offering expenses, net of tax .. ...... ................ .. .. 
Cash dividends..... .. .... .... ... ............. .. ......... .. ............................ ........ . (10,173) 
Transfer to legal reserve.......... .. ...... .. ............ .......... ..................... .. (786) 
Appropriation for special allowances, net of taxes.. .. ............... (879) 

Balance, end of period ......................................... .. ... .. ... .. ...... ......... ¥ 515,330 

Net income per common share: 

Five months 
ended March 31 , 

1987 

¥397,494 
211 ,931 

609,425 
9,922 

619,347 

451 ,681 
148,189 

599,870 

19,477 

8,165 
2,511 

12,806 

23,482 

10,791 
6,542 

17,333 

25,626 

18,245 
(2,140) 

16,105 

9,521 
3,733 

13,254 

515,330 

( 4,277) 
(201) 
(635) 

¥523 ,471 

Yen 

Year ended March 31 

1988 1989 

¥1,017,277 
537,942 

1,555,219 
32,742 

1,587,961 

1,147,014 
380,283 

1,527,297 

60,664 

15,448 
13,850 
27,849 

57,147 

27,195 
18,780 

45,975 

71 ,836 

37,120 
4,345 

41,465 

30,371 
6,865 

37,236 

523,471 

(10,555) 
(1 ,547) 
(1 ,334) 

¥1,414,032 
731,297 

2,145,329 
56,143 

2,201 ,472 

1,475,352 
565,621 

2,040,973 

160,499 

22,609 
4,818 

32,591 

60,018 

32,550 
22,451 

55,001 

165,516 

91,129 
4,047 

95,176 

70,340 
2,129 

72,469 

547,271 
(2,033) 

(12,408) 
(1,913) 
(3,202) 

¥ 547,271 ¥ 600,184 

Primary .......... .. ......... .............. ........ .... ...................... .. .. ... .. ................. ¥ 178.4 ¥ 57.3 ¥ 151.0 ¥ 
145.7 
44.6 

241.7 
240.8 

44.6 
Fully diluted .... ............................. ....... ................ .. ... ; .... .... .... ........... . 166.6 54.2 
Cash dividends per common share ...... ....................... .. ..... ...... . 44.0 18.5 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 3) 

Year 
ended March 31 , 

1989 

$10,712,363 
5,540,129 

16,252,492 
425,326 

16,677,818 

11,176,909 
4,285,007 

15,461,916 

1,215,902 

171,280 
36,500 

246,902 

454,682 

246,591 
170,084 

416,675 

1,253,909 

690,371 
30,659 

721,030 

532,879 
16,129 

549,008 

4,145,992 
(15,402) 
(94,000) 
(14,492) 
(24,258) 

$ 4,546,848 

$ 

U.S. dollars 
(Note 3) 

1.83 
1.82 
0.34 



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries 

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

Millions of yen (Note 3) 

Year ended Five months 
Year ended March 31 

Year 
October 31 , ended March 31, ended March 31, 

1986 1987 1988 1989 1989 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income .... .... ...... ... .. .... .. .. .. ... .... ... .. ... .. .... .......... ...... ....... .. ..... .. ..... .... ... ... . ¥ 41,244 ¥ 13,254 ¥ 37,236 ¥ 72,469 $ 549,008 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities-
Depreciation and amortization .. .. .. ... .. ...... ...... ... ...... .. .. ....... ... .. .. ... .... .. . 86,029 37,261 92,511 125,790 952,955 
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies, less dividends ........ .. . (3,103) (3,433) (3,417) (1,582) (11,985) 
Exchange (gain) loss ... .... .. .. .. .. .... .......... .... ... ...... ... .. .. ... ... .... ..... ...... ....... . (2,836) 126 (1 ,059) 1,869 14,159 
Provision for severance indemnities, less payments .... .. .... ... ... .... . . 7,326 (2,732) 2,345 5,178 39,227 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets ... ........... .... ... ....................... ..... .... .... . 2,734 2,822 3,650 4,093 31,008 
Deferred income taxes ..... ... ...... .. ..... .. .. ...... .... ..... .. ..... ... ... ....... .... ... .... ... . 11,415 (2,140) 4,345 4,047 30,659 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition 

of CBS Records Inc. and its affiliates in 1988: 
(Increase) decrease in notes and accounts receivable ..... ........ .. . (21,282) 17,645 (27,954) (67,296) (509,818) 
(Increase) decrease in inventories ....... .. .... .... ..... ... .. ... ..... ....... .... .... . (17,206) 18,018 (31 ,673) (119,145) (902,614) 
(Increase) decrease in other current assets ... ..... ... .... ...... .. .. ......... . 3,538 13,662 (12,273) (16,508) (125,061) 
Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable ........ ...... .... .. . (5,366) (25,939) 64,547 84,565 640,644 
Increase (decrease) in accrued income and other taxes ....... .. .. . (18,761) (953) 12,616 33,012 250,091 
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities .. ... ... .... .. .. .. ..... .. ... . 2,499 (11,289) 45,918 68,314 517,530 

Other .. .. ... ... ... .......... ......... ... ...... ....... ... .. ........ .. ..... .. ..... .. ... ........ .. ...... ...... ... . 24,829 (14,991) 5,343 (30,759) (233,023) 

Net cash provided by operating activities .... .. .. .. ....... .. .. .. ......... . 111 ,060 41,311 192,135 164,047 1,242,780 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Payments for purchases of fixed assets ...... .. .. .... ...... .. .... ...... ...... ........ .. . (115,891) ( 48,811) (135,504) (182,324) (1,381,242) 
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets .... .... .. .. .. .. .. ...... ........ .. .. .. .... .. .... .. .... .. 5,970 3,967 10,725 7,999 60,599 
Payments for investments and advances .................... .. ...................... .. (6,822) (1,215) (7,962) (14,707) (111,417) 
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 

and collections of advances .. ..... .. ................ ... .. .... ...... .... ...... .... ... ........ .. 15,938 4,987 5,090 4,319 32,720 
Payments for purchases of marketable securities .............. .... .. .......... . (142,142) (81,54 7) (162,602) (268,439) (2,033,629) 
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities .... .. ........ .. .. .. .... .... ........ .. 96,442 44,467 181,564 224,178 1,698,318 
(Increase) decrease in time deposits ... ..... .. .. .. ... ........ .. ... ... ..... .. .......... .. .. 22,181 (12,038) (11,437) 40,639 307,871 
Payment for purchase of CBS Records Inc. and its affiliates 

in 1988, net of cash acquired of ¥25,259 million ............ ...... ...... .. . (221,676) 
Other .. ... .. .... ... ........ ... ... ... .... ..... .. .... ........... ... ..... ... .. ...... ..... .. .. ... .. ... ... .. .. ... .... . . (1,076) (433) 7,814 (1,573) (11,917) 

Net cash used in investing activities ..... .. ................................... . (125,400) (90,623) (333,988) (189,908) (1,438,697) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt.. .. .. .................................... . 16,788 11,305 86,631 109,881 832,432 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, 

net of stock issue costs ........ .. ..... ................... ..... ..... .. ...... .. .. .. ..... .. ..... .... . 120,819 915,295 
Payment of long-term debt .. .... .. .. .................. ........ ...... .... .. .... .. ...... ...... .. .. (8,495) (3,415) (5,082) (7,471) (56,598) 
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings ........ .. .. .. .... .. ...... .... .. .. .. 58',692 11,675 107,224 (95,728) (725,212) 
Dividends paid .................... .................................................. .......... ...... .. .. . (10,134) (5,141) (9,4 76) (11,339) (85,902) 
Other .............. ..... ..... ...... ... ....... ...... ....... .. ......... ..... ..... ... ... .. ... ..... .. ....... .... ... .. . (4,637) (1,792) 8,126 (6,881) (52,128) 

Net cash provided by financing activities ... ..... .. .. ........ .. ......... .. . 52,214 12,632 187,423 109,281 827,887 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. ..... ( 4,073) 4,636 (2,556) (405) (3,068) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...... .. .... .. .... .... . 33,801 (32,044) 43,014 83,015 628,902 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .. .. ... .. .... .......... .... .. 170,103 203,904 171,860 214,874 1,627,833 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period .. .. .. .. .... .... ...... .... .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ¥203,904 ¥171,860 ¥214,874 ¥297,889 $2,256,735 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Sony Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries 

1. Change of fiscal year 
Effective March 31, 1987, the parent company and almost all 

subsidiaries changed their fiscal year end from October 31 to 
March 31. Accordingly, the fiscal period ended March 31, 1987 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The parent company and its domestic subsidiaries maintain 

their records and prepare their financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and its 
foreign subsidiaries in conformity with those of the countries 
of their domicile. Certain adjustments and reclassifications, 
including those relating to the tax effects of timing differences, 
capitalization of stock purchase warrants, the appropriation for 
or reversal of special allowances, the accrual of certain expenses 
and the accounting for foreign currency translation, have been 
incorporated in the accompanying financial statements to con
form with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. These adjustments were not recorded in the 
statutory books of account. 

Significant accounting policies, after reflecting adjustments 
for the above, are as follows : 

Basis of consolidation and accounting 
for investments in affiliated companies 

In prior periods, the consolidated financial statements included 
the accounts of the parent company and, with minor exceptions, 
those of its wholly-owned subsidiary companies. The company 
has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 94 
(FAS 94 ), Consolidation of All Majority-owned Subsidiaries for 
the year ended March 31, 1989. Accordingly, the company has 
consolidated most majority-owned subsidiaries which were 
previously accounted for using the equity method. All prior 
periods' financial statements and certain financial information 
have been retroactively restated. Previously reported net sales 
for the year ended October 31, 1986 and for the five-month 
period ended March 31, 1987 and for the year ended March 
31, 1988 were increased by ¥126,932 million, ¥61,676 million 
and ¥123,997 million, respectively, as a result of this change. 
The effect of the change on net income for the respective periods 
was insignificant. Investments in 20% to 50% owned companies 
are stated, with minor exceptions, at cost plus equity in un
distributed earnings; consolidated net income includes the 
company's equity in current earnings (losses) of such companies, 
after elimination of unrealized intercompany profits. 

The excess of the cost over the underlying net equity of 
investments in consolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies 
accounted for on an equity basis is allocated to identifiable assets 
based on fair market value at the date of acquisition. The un
assigned residual value, which is recognized as goodwill, is 
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included only five months of operations whereas other fiscal 
years consisted of 12 months. 

included in other assets-other and is amortized on a straight
line basis principally over a period of 40 years, with the excep
tion of minor amounts which are charged to income in the 
year of acquisition. 

Translation of foreign currendes 
All asset and liability accounts of foreign subsidiaries and 

affiliates are translated into Japanese yen at appropriate year-end 
current rates and all income and expense accounts are translated 
at rates prevailing at the time of the transactions. The resulting 
translation adjustments are accumulated as a component of 
stockholders' equity. 

Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at 
appropriate year-end current rates and the resulting translation 
gains or losses are taken into income currently. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
Effective for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1989, the company 

adopted Financial Accounting Standards No. 95 (FAS 95), 
Statement of Cash Flows. The statement of cash flows replaces 
the statement of changes in financial position which has been 
presented in previous periods. The statements for the previous 
periods have been restated to conform with the new presentation. 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, all highly liquid 
investments, generally with original maturities of three months 
or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are so near maturity that they present insignificant risk 
of changes in value because of changes in interest rates, are 
considered as cash equivalents. 

Marketable securities and other investments 
Marketable equity securities included in marketable securities 

(current) are stated at the lower of cost or market in the aggregate 
as are those marketable equity securities included in security 
investments and other (non-current); other marketable securities 
(current), principally bank debentures, and other security 
investments (non-current) are stated at cost or less. 

The cost of marketable equity securities sold is based on the 
average cost of all the shares of each security held at the time 
of sale. 



Inventories 
Inventories are valued at cost, not in excess of market, cost 

being determined on the "average" basis except for the cost of 
finished products carried by certain subsidiary companies 
which is determined on the "first-in, first-out" basis. 

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation 

of property, plant and equipment is computed primarily on the 
declining balance method at rates based on estimated useful 
lives of the assets according to general class, type of construction 
and use. Significant renewals and additions are capitalized at cost. 
Maintenance and repairs and minor renewals and betterments 
are charged to income as incurred. 

Liability for severance indemnities and pension plans 
On terminating employment, employees of the parent company 

and subsidiaries in Japan are entitled, under most circumstances, 
to lump-sum indemnities or pension payments as described 
below, based on current rate of pay and length of service. 
Under normal circumstances, the minimum payment prior to 
retirement age is an amount based on voluntary retirement. 
Employees receive significant additional benefits on involuntary 
retirement including retirement at age limit. 

The parent company and most subsidiaries in Japan have 
non-contributory funded pension plans with a trust bank and 
two insurance companies. The benefits under the plans cover 
60% of the indemnities under the existing regulations to em
ployees retiring involuntarily after 20 years or more of service 
and an additional amount applicable to retirees due to the age 
limit which is based principally on length of service. The benefits 
are payable, at the option of the retiring employee, as a monthly 
pension or in a lump-sum amount. 

Most foreign subsidiaries charge pension expense or accrue 
severance liability for their employees' pension schemes or 
severance indemnity plans. 

The recorded liability for employees' severance indemnities 
plus the retirement funds, excluding those funds covering the 
additional benefits, are sufficient to state the companies' maximum 
liability for employee service to the balance sheet date. 

Pension expense for all plans, including other funded pension 
plans primarily of foreign subsidiaries, includes amortization of 
prior service cost principally over a 30 year period. 

With respect to directors, provision is made for lump-sum 
severance indemnities on a basis considered adequate for such 
future payments as may be approved by the stockholders. 

In December 1985, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87 (FAS 
87), Employers' Accounting for Pensions. However, in case of 
the company, this statement shall be effective for the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 1990. The parent company and its subsidiaries, 

with minor exceptions, have decided not to adopt FAS 87 in 
1989. However, if FAS 87 had been implemented as at March 31, 
1989, the amount of projected benefit obligation would probably 
not exceed the total amount of the recorded liabilities and 
funded assets. 

Income taxes and retained earnings appropriated 
for special allowances 

The parent company, subsidiaries in Japan and some of the 
foreign subsidiaries are permitted to deduct for income tax 
purposes, if recorded on the books as appropriations of retained 
earnings or as charges to income, certain special allowances 
which are not required for financial accounting purposes. Since 
the effect of the special allowances is a deferral of income taxes, 
an amount equivalent to the current tax reduction resulting 
from recording of the special allowances is provided as "Deferred 
income taxes;' and the remaining portion of such aUowances is 
set forth in the accompanying financial statements as "Retained 
earnings appropriated for special allowances:' 

In December 1987, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 96 (FAS 
96), Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires an asset and 
liability approach in the measurement of deferred taxes and 
restricts the recognition of deferred tax debits (assets). However, 
the effective date was deferred, in the case of the company, until 
the year ending March 31, 1991 by FAS 100 which amended 
FAS 96. The company is still examining the impact and adoption 
alternatives of FAS 96. However, if FAS 96 had been implemented 
as at March 31, 1989, deferred tax debits (assets) and retained 
earnings as at March 31, 1989 would probably decrease. 

Net income per share 
Primary net income per common share is computed based 

on the average number of common shares outstanding during 
each period after consideration of the dilutive effect of common 
stock equivalents which include warrants and certain convertible 
bonds. Fully diluted net income per common share further 
assumes that all other convertible bonds and debentures were 
converted into common stock. The dilutive effect of warrants 
is determined using the tFeasury stock method. 

Both primary and fully diluted net income per common 
share are appropriately adjusted for the free share distribution 
of common stock. 

Distributions of common stock 
On occasion, the company may make a free distribution 

of common stock which is accounted for either by a transfer 
of the applicable par value from the additional paid-in capital 
to the common stock account or with no entry if free shares 
are distributed from the portion of previously issued shares 
accounted for as excess of par value in the common stock account. 
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The free share distribution is made in accordance with the 
provisions of the Commercial Code of Japan, and such action 
is approved by the Board of Directors. In Japan, a gratis distri
bution as described above is clearly distinguished from a "stock 
dividend" paid out of profits which, .under the Commercial 
Code, must be approved by the stockholders. 

3. U.S. dollar amounts 
U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for convenience. 

These translations should not be construed as representations 
that the yen amounts actually represent, or have been or could 
be converted into, U.S. dollars. As the amounts shown in U.S. 

4. Acquisition of CBS Records Inc. 
On January 5, 1988, the company acquired from CBS Inc. all 

of the outstanding common stock of CBS Records Inc. and its 
affiliates, which are operating primarily in the recording business, 
for approximately US$2 billion in cash. The purchase agreement 
provides for an additional payment in the form of a dividend 
to CBS Inc. from the acquired company based on its net worth 
at the acquisition date. The amount of the additional payment 
is still subject to the determination of net worth. The acquisi
tion was accounted for as a purchase and the company's con
solidated financial statements include operating results of CBS 
Records Inc. and its affiliates for the period from the date of 
acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the net assets 
acquired has been allocated to identifiable assets such as land, 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (primarily 
artist contracts and the music catalogue), based upon the fair 
value of such assets; the excess of the acquisition cost over the 

Common stock offering expenses 
Common stock offering expenses are directly charged to 

retained earnings, net of tax, in the accompanying financial 
statements as the Japanese Commercial Code prohibits charging 
such stock issue costs to capital accounts which is the prevailing 
practice in the United States of America. On the books, such 
issue costs are charged to expense. 

dollars are for convenience only, the rate of ¥132= U.S.$1, the 
approximate current rate at March 31, 1989, has been used for 
the purpose of presentation of the U.S. dollar amounts in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

sum of the amounts assigned to identifiable assets less liabilities 
assumed, which is recognized as goodwill, is included in other 
assets-other. 

Property, plant and equipment and various intangible assets, 
after the allocation, are depreciated or amortized based on esti
mated useful lives. In the case of artist contracts and the music 
catalogue, the amounts are amortized on a straight-line basis 
principally over 16 years and 21 years, respectively. Goodwill is 
being amortized on a straight-line basis over a 40 year period. 

The following unaudited consolidated pro forma information 
shows results of the company's consolidated operations for the 
five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and the year ended 
March 31, 1988 as though the purchase of CBS Records Inc. 
and its affiliates had been made as of the beginning of each 
period presented. 

Yen in millions 

Five months 
ended March 31 , 

1987 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

1988 

Net sales......................................... ..... .. .... ......... .... .......................... .... .. .. .. ...... .... .......................... ... ..... .... ... .... ¥751,164 
Net income. .. ........................ ............... ... ................. ..... ......... ... ... .. .............................................. ..... .... ... .... ..... 21,709 

¥1,826,821 
39,092 

Net income per common share-
Primary ... ....... ....... .. ......................................... .. ............ ....... .. ................................................ ...... ................ . 
Fully diluted ..................................................... .. ................................ ... .. .. .... ...... .. ........ ......................... : .... . 

¥93.9 
86.8 

Yen 

¥158.39 
152.54 

The pro forma results of operations are not necessarily 
indicative of the actual results of operations that would have 
occurred had the purchase been consummated at the beginning 

of the respective periods, or of results which may occur in 
the future. 
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5. Cash flow information 
Cash payments for income taxes were ¥55,485 million, 

¥19,149 million, ¥26,576 million and ¥46,091 million ($349,174 
thousand) for the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five
month period ended March 31, 1987 and for the years ended 
March 31, 1988 and 1989, respectively; in these respective 
periods, interest payments were ¥23,791 million, ¥8,026 million, 
¥26,511 million and ¥32,192 million ($24 3,879 thousand). 

Conversions of convertible debt into common stock and 
additional paid-in capital were Y269 million, Y38 million, 
¥29,639 million and ¥80,349 million ($608,705 thousand) for 
the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five-month period 
ended March 31, 1987 and for the years ended March 31, 1988 
and 1989, respectively. 

Capital lease obligations of Y877 million, ¥1,177 million and 
¥1,315 million ($9,962 thousand) were incurred during the 
five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and the years ended 
March 31, 1988 and 1989, respectively. 

In connection with the acquisition of CBS Records Inc. and 
its affiliates, the company assumed liabilities of ¥90,975 million 
in the year ended March 31, 1988. 

6. Inventories 
Inventories at March 31, 1988 and 1989 comprise the following: 

Yen in 
millions 

March 31 

1988 1989 

Finished products ......... ..... .......... ....... .... ... .... .......... .. ..... ... .................. .......... ........... ..... ...... ................... ... . ¥225,670 ¥317,902 
87,851 
77,895 

Work in process........... ... .... ...... ....... .......... ..... ..... ........ ..... ............................. ... ............ .. .... ................... .... 67,516 
Raw materials, purchased components and supplies .................................................. :..................... . 64,873 

¥358,059 ¥483,648 

7. Investments in and transactions with affiliated companies 

Dollars in 
thousands 

March 31, 
1989 

$2,408,348 
665,538 
590,114 

$3,664,000 

The following summarized financial information, before inter- for on an equity basis prior to April 1, 1988 and which have 
company eliminations, is for subsidiaries which were accounted been consolidated in accordance with FAS 94 since April1, 1988. 

Yen in 
millions 

March 31 

1988 1989 

Current assets ...................... ..... ................................................................................................................... ¥114,309 
Property, plant and equipment................................................................................................................ 27,441 
Other assets.................................................................................................................................................. 19,028 

Total assets .... ......... .......... .... .... .... ........ .......... ............. ........... ............ ... .... ......... .......... ..................... . ¥160,778 

Current liabilities............. ....... ..... .. ... ... ..... ...... .......... ...................... .... ........ ................................. ....... ... ...... Y1 08,859 
Long-term liabilities. ........................ .. ....... .. ... ......... .. ........................ ... .. ..... .. ...... ..... ............................. ..... . 14,201 
Stockholders' equity........ .................. .............. ... ... ....... ........ .................. .. .. ... .... .... .. ... ... ..... ... ...... ..... .... ... .. . 37,718 

Total liabilities and stockholders ' equity .. .... ..... ...... .. ..... .......... .. ............ ... ............ .. .... .......... ...... ¥160,778 

Number of companies at end of period................................................................................................ 21 

¥150,262 
33,800 
53,758 

¥237,820 

¥172,387 
15,020 
50,413 

¥237,820 

21 

Dollars in 
thousands 

March 31, 
1989 

$1,138,348 
256,061 
407,258 

$1,801,667 

$1,305,962 
113,788 
381,917 

$1,801,667 
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Year ended 
October 31, 

1986 

Net sales .. ...... .. ... ... ... .. .... .. ... .. ..... ........... ... ... .... ... .. .... ... ..... .. ... .. .. ..... ... .. Y249,629 
Gross profit. .......... .... ......... .. .............................................................. 38,086 
Net income (loss)................ ............ ................. .. ... ........... ... .... ... ..... .. 2,425 

Yen in 
millions 

Five months 
ended March 31, 

1987 

Y129,399 
17,251 
(6,036) 

Year 
ended March 31 

1988 1989 

Y319,l40 
40,018 

2,982 

¥438,643 
49,699 

7,980 

Summarized financial information for affiliated companies accounted for by the equity method is as shown below: 

Yen in 
millions 

March 31 

1988 1989 

Current assets ....... ...... ....... .. ................................................. ..... .................. .. ..... .. ........ ... ......... .... .. .................... . Y42,693 ¥43,837 
Property, plant and equipment ... .. ...... ... .. ... .. .. ........ .......... ... ... ... ...................... ...... .... ... .... ............. ........... .... . . 8,968 8,026 
Other assets ......... .. ........ ... ... ..... .... ... ... ... ................ .... ...... .............. ...... ..... .. ........ ... .... ........ ... ..... ... ... .. ................. . 2,371 2,162 

Total assets ......................................................... .... .... ... ... ................. .... ..... .. .. .. ............................ .. ..... ... .. . Y54,032 ¥54,025 

Current liabilities .. ....... ...... .......... ..... .......... .. .. ..... .. ... ..... .. .. ... .. ............. ... ..... .... .. .. .. .... ... ... ................ ......... .... ... .. . Y20,875 ¥17,405 
Long-term liabilities ........... .... ....... .......... .. ...... ... ...... .. .. .. ........ .... .. ....... ..... ... ....... ... ................. ... ............. .. ... ... .... . 741 857 
Stockholders' equity .......................................... .. ... .... ....... ... .... ............ .. ....... ... ... ........... .. ....... ............... ......... .. . 32,416 35,763 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ............................................................................. .............. . Y54,032 ¥54,025 

Number of companies at end of period ......................................................................... ... ... ... .. .. ..... ....... ..... . 6 4 

Yen in 
millions 

Year ended Five months Year 

October 31, ended March 31, ended March 31 

1986 1987 1988 1989 

Net sales ....... ......... ..... .......... ... .......... ....... .. .. ........... ......... .................... . Y186,275 Y146,722 Y160,688 ¥91,033 
Gross profit ............... ... ........ ... ............... ..... ............ ...... .. .... ... ..... .. .. .... . 61,506 50,242 53,534 27,473 
Net income ........ ... .. ... ...... .... ..... .... ............................................. .... .. .... . 10,535 8,031 11,748 5,604 

Dollars in 
thousands 

Year 
ended March 31, 

1989 

$3,323,053 
376,508 

60,455 

Dollars in 
thousands 

March 31, 
1989 

$332,098 
60,803 
16,379 

$409,280 

$131,856 
6,492 

270,932 

$409,280 

Dollars in 
thousands 

Year 
ended March 31 , 

1989 

$689,644 
208,129 

42,455 

The summarized financial information for subsidiaries and 
affiliated companies in prior periods has been restated to be 
comparable with the 1989 information. Account balances and 

transactions with affiliated companies which are accounted for 
on the equity basis are presented below: 

Yen in Dollars in 
millions thousands 

March 31 March 31, 
1988 1989 1989 

Accounts receivable, trade .... ... ... ..... .... ... .. ... ... ..... ... ........ ... ..... ... .......... .. .. ... .. ............... .... .. ... ... .... .... .... ................. . Y10,598 ¥6,322 $47,894 
Accounts payable, trade .... ....... ....... .. .. .. ... .. ................. ... ............... ............. ....... ...... ........... .......... ..... ........ ... ... .. .. ... . 280 315 2,386 

Yen in Dollars in 
millions thousands 

Year ended Five months Year Year 
October 31, ended March 31, ended March 31 ended March 31, 

1986 1987 1988 1989 1989 

Sales ..... .. ......... ............... ........ ... .... .. ..... .... ...... ... ... .. .. ... ... ............ .. ...... ... ... . Y63,270 Y48,425 Y51,l91 ¥44,089 $334,008 
Purchases .................. .... ......... .. .... ................ ..... .. .. ...... ... ... ........ .. .... ........ . 4,932 3,880 6,391 3,658 27,712 
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8. Marketable securities 
The cost and market value of marketable equity securities 

included in marketable securities (current) and security investments 

Current: 

and other (non-current) at March 31, 1988 and 1989 are 
as follows : 

Yen in 
millions 

March 31 

1988 1989 

Dollars in 
thousands 

March 31, 
1989 

Cost (Carrying value) ... .. .... ... ...... ...... .. ..... ... ... ... ... .... .... ... ... .... .. ... .. ..... ... ..... ... ...... .... ... ....... ... .... .. ........... . ¥ 15,736 ¥ 9,695 
11,067 

$ 73,447 
Market .. ... ... .... .. ....... .. ....................... .... .. .......... ........... ................. .......... .... ... ................. .... .. ... .......... .... ..... 16,653 

Non-current: 
Cost (Carrying value) .... .. ..... .. ........... .. .... ...... ..... .... ... .. ..... .... ... ...... ....... .......... ...... .. .... .. .. ...... .......... .... ... . ¥ 26,004 
Market. ..... ..... .. .... ... .... ......... ... .............. ... ..... ... ..... .. .. .. ...... .... .... ........ .... ............. ...... .............. ..... .. ... ..... .. ... . 176,158 

¥ 34,957 
183,749 

83,841 

$ 264,826 
1,392,038 

At March 31, 1989, gross unrealized gains and losses pertaining to marketable equity securities in the portfolios are as follows : 

Yen in 
millions 

Dollars in 
thousands 

Gains Losses Gains Losses 

Current ..... ..... .. .... .. ... ... .. .. ......... .. ........ .. ................. .... .............. ... .... ... ... ......... .... .... .. ..... ... ... ....... ... ........ ¥ 1,577 
Non-current...... ....... ...... .. ..... .. ..... .... ..... .. ............ .. ....... .... ........................... .. .. .. ....... .... ............ ............ 149,120 

¥205 
328 

$ 11,947 
1,129,697 

¥1,750 million and ¥3,051 million ($23,114 thousand), 
respectively. 

$1,553 
2,485 

Net realized gains on the disposal of marketable equity 
securities for the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five
month period ended March 31, 1987 and for the years ended 
March 31, 1988 and 1989 were ¥1,184 million, ¥857 million, 

The cost of marketable securities other than equity securities 
at March 31 , 1988 and 1989 approximated market. 

9. Accumulated amortization of other assets 
Accumulated amortization of other assets amounted to 

¥11,261 million and ¥24,239 million ($183,629 thousand) at 
March 31, 1988 and 1989, respectively. 

10. Short-term borrowings and long-term debt 
Short-term borrowings at March 31, 1989 comprise the following: 

Yen in 
millions 

Loans, principally from banks, with interest ranging from 3.375% to 17.94% per annum ........ .. .............. . ¥128,519 
Commercial paper with interest ranging from 8.3% to 10.27% per annum .... .. .... .. .. .... .. .. .... .. ............ .. .... .. .. .. 96,118 

¥224,637 

Dollars in 
thousands 

$ 973,629 
728,166 

$1,701,795 
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Long-term debt at March 31,· 1989 comprises the following: 

Unsecured loans, representing obligations principally to banks, due 1989 to 2006 
with interest ranging from 3.6% to 14.75% per annum ...... ... ....... .... ... .. ...... .... ... ..... ... .... .. .. ...... .... ... ... .... ..... ... .. . 

Unsecured 6.0% convertible debentures of U.S.$3,800 thousand due 1997, convertible currently at 
¥3,521.80 ($13.74 calculated at ¥256.30=$1) for one common share, redeemable before due date ... .. 

Unsecured 5.2% convertible bonds due 1989, convertible currently at ¥3,465.50 ($26.25) 
for one common share, redeemable before due date ....... ...... .......... .. .. .... .... .. .... .. ....... ........ .. .... .. ...... .. ... .... ....... .. . 

Unsecured 2.0% convertible bonds due 2000, convertible currently at ¥4,578 ($34.68) 
for one common share, redeemable before due date .. .... ..... .... ... ... .... .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ..... .... .. ..... ..... .. ....... .... ..... ..... ... . 

Unsecured 1.5% convertible bonds due 2002, convertible currently at ¥4,830 ($36.59) 
for one common share, redeemable before due date ... ..... ... .... .... ..... ..... .. .. .. .. ....... .. .. ..... ....... .... .. .. .. ... .... ........... .. . 

Unsecured 1.4% convertible bonds due 2003, convertible currently at ¥5,961 ($45.16) 
for one common share, redeemable before due date ............ · ...... .... ........ .......... ......... ....... ........ ... ..... .. ... ....... .... .. . 

Unsecured 7 3/4% bonds of U.S.$100,000 thousand due 1990 with detachable warrants, 
net of unamortized discount 

Unsecured 8 1/4% bonds of U.S.$100,000 thousand due 1993 .... ... ..... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... .. .... ... ...... ... ....... ... .. ... .. ..... ... . . 
Guaranteed 5.0% bonds of a consolidated subsidiary, due 1996, redeemable before due date ..... ........... . . 
Long-term capital lease obligations, 8.21 % to 14.0%, due 1990 to 2034 .... ... .. .. ... ... .. ... ..... ..... ... ..... .. ... ... ....... . . 
Guarantee deposits received .... .. .. ............... ... ..... .... ... .. ... ... .. .. ........... ... ....... ........... ... ... ....... ... ... ..... ... .. ....... ... ... ... ... .... .. . 

Less-Portion due within one year ......... ... ... ..... .... .. ... .. ...... .................. ............................ ...................... .... .... .... ..... .. .. . 

Yen in 
millions 

¥ 29,613 

502 

8,559 

3,977 

55,034 

91,943 

12,283 
13,426 

2,000 
6,674 
9,576 

233,587 
12,797 

¥220 ,790 

Dollars in 
thousands 

$ 224,341 

3,803 

64,841 

30,129 

416,924 

696,538 

93,053 
101,712 

15,152 
50,561 
72,545 

1,769,599 
96,947 

$1,672,652 

The 7 3/4% bonds of U.S.$100,000 thousand, with detachable 
warrants to purchase common stock of the company, were issued 
in 1985. One warrant is attached to each $5,000 bond and 
entitles the holders to subscribe ¥1,278,500 ($9,686) for shares 
of common stock of the company at ¥4,469 ($33.86) per share 
(subject to adjustment in certain circumstances). The estimated 
fair value of the warrants at the tjme of issuance was credited 
to additional paid-in capital with a corresponding charge to 
bond discount. This discount, which is netted against the face 
amount of the bond, is bei.ng amortized over the life of the 
bonds. The rights under the warrants are exercisable up to and 
including April 26, 1990. 

of a defined debt to equity ratio and requires that the company, 
as a reserve for redemption payment, deposit defined amounts 
with a designated bank. A deposit of ¥9,000 million made on 
October 31, 1987 under this requirement was refunded and 

The agreement for the 5.2% convertible bonds places certain 
restrictions on the payment of dividends, calls for the maintenance 

Year ending March 31 

an additional ¥13,500 million to be deposited on October 31, 
1988 was not required as the accumulated amount of conver
sion of convertible bonds exceeded ¥22,500 million during the 
current year. 

Land and building with a book value of ¥1,592 millicin 
($12,061 thousand) and ¥444 million ($3,364 thousand), 
respectively, are mortgaged as security for the guaranteed 5.0% 
bonds of a consolidated subsidiary. 

The aggregate amounts of. ann1Jal maturities of long-term debt 
during the next five years arE; . :a~ · foMows : 

Yen in 
millions 

Dollars in 
thousands 

1990 ..... .... ... .... .. ....... ... .... ...... ........ ... .. .. ... .. ... ...... ........ ... .. ....... .... .... ......... ... .... .... ... ... ... .... .. .. .. ... ............ ..... ... ... ..... .... ... .. .. ...... ... ¥12,797 $ 96,947 
67,439 

145,727 
15,705 

115,848 

1991 ... ... .. .. ..... ..... .. .. ... ...... ......... ........ ... .. ....... ..... ..... ... .... ...... ... .. .. ..................... .. ..... ...... ............ .. ......... ......... .. ..... ... ... ..... .. ....... 8,902 
1992............. .. ......... .. .... .. .. ..... ... .. ... .. ... ........ ......... ... .......... .. ...... ............. ........ .... .. ... .... .. .. .. .... .... ... ........ ..... ..... ... ... ... .. ..... .. ... ... .. 19,236 
1993 .. ..... .... .............. ... .... ..... ...... ...... .. ..... ................................... ......... ............ ..... ..... .. ............................ ........... ....... ............. .. 2,073 
1994.... ........ .... ... ...... ... ..... ........ ... ... ...... ..... .......... ... ... ... ..... .... ..... ...... .. ..... ... ........ ..... .... ... .. .... .. ..... ........... .. ....... ..... ... ..... ... .. ..... .. 15,292 
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The basic agreements with certain banks in Japan include 
provisions that collateral (including sums on deposit with such 
banks) or guarantors will be furnished upon the banks' request 
and that any collateral furnished, pursuant to such agreements 
or otherwise, will be applicable to all present or future 
indebtedness to such banks. 

Although the maintenance of official compensating balances 
in respect of bank loans and other credit arrangements is con
trary to public policy in Japan, it is quite common for a company 
to maintain time deposits with banks with which it has various 
credit arrangements. The company had time deposits of ¥3,87 4 
million ($29,348 thousand) with such banks at March 31, 1989. 

Il. Liability for severance indemnities and pension plans 
The charges to income for severance indemnities and pension The company is not required to report the actuarial present 

plans were ¥13,298 million, ¥5,195 million, ¥9,935 million and value of either vested or nonvested accumulated plan benefits 
¥14,791 million ($112,053 thousand) for the year ended October and net assets available for benefits to any governmental agency 
31, 1986, for the five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and and such information therefore is not available. 
for the years ended March 31, 1988 and 1989, respectively. 

12. Income taxes 
The company is subject to a number of different income 

taxes which, in the aggregate, indicate an effective statutory rate 
in Japan of approximately 58% for the year ended October 31, 
1986 and for the five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and 
56% for the years ended March 31, 1988 and 1989. The ordinary 
relationship between income tax expense and pretax accounting 
income is distorted by a number of items including various tax 
credits, certain expenses not allowable for income tax purposes, 
the non-deductibility of losses of subsidiaries, different tax rates 

13. Stockholders' equity 

applicable to foreign subsidiaries, reduced tax rates on earnings 
appropriated for dividends and dividend income which is not 
taxable. 

Tax loss carryforwards of consolidated subsidiaries at March 
31, 1989 amounted to approximately ¥19,289 million ($146,129 
thousand) and are available as an offset against future taxable 
earnings of such subsidiaries mostly within up to five years 
except for ¥3,236 million ($24,515 thousand) which may be 
carried forward indefinitely. 

Changes in common stock and additional paid-in capital have resulted from the following: 

Yen in Dollars in 
millions thousands 

Additional Additional 
Number of Common paid-in Common paid-in 

shares stock capital stock capital 

Balance at October 31, 1985 ... ..... ........ ... ... ............... .... ..... ...... ..... ... . . 231 ,148,309 ¥ 11,937 ¥ 99,423 $ 90,432 $ 753,205 
Conversion of convertible debt.. ... ... ...... .... .. ...... ... .... .. .. ... ... ....... ... .. .. . 76,959 38 231 288 1,750 

Balance at October 31, 1986 ..... .. .... ..... .... ...... ....... ... ....... ........ .... .... .. . 231,225,268 11,975 99,654 90,720 754,955 
Conversion of convertible debt.. .... ... ...... .......... ....... .. .. .. .... .... ... ....... . . 10,913 38 288 

Balance at March 31, 1987 .. ..... ..... ...... .... .. ....... .... ... ...... .. .... .. .... ... ... .. . 231,236,181 11,975 99,692 90,720 755,243 
Conversion of convertible debt .. ... ....... ...... .... .... .. ... ... .... ... .... ..... .. .... . . 7,532,586 11,690 17,949 88,560 135,977 
Change in interest in consolidated subsidiary ................ ... ........ .... . 2,183 16,538 

Balance at March 31, 1988 .. ... ...... ........... .... .. ....... .. ..... ..... ... .. ... .......... . 238,768,767 23,665 11 9,824 179,280 907,758 
Public offering of common stock .... ... .. .... .. .. ..... ....... ..... ... .. ... ... .. ... .... . 20,000,000 54,540 54,520 413,181 413,030 
Exercise of stock purchase warrants ...... .... .... ..... .. ... ..... ..... ....... ... ... . 3,086,210 6,898 6,895 52,258 52,235 
Conversion of convertible debt.. .... ... ... .. ...... ... ..... ... .. .... ..... ... ...... ..... . . 20,747,946 29,538 50,811 223,773 384,932 

Balance at March 31 , 1989 ...... .... ..... .. ... ....... ........ ... ... ... .. ... ... ..... ... .... . 282,602,923 ¥ 114,641 ¥232,050 $868,492 $1 ,757,955 
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The company made a public offering of 20,000,000 shares of 
common stock on April 21, 1988, outside the United States of 
America and Canada at a price of¥5,453 ($41.31) per share. The 
amount of¥54,540 million ($413,181 thousand) of the total pro
ceeds of shares issued was credited to the common stock account 
and the remainder of ¥54,520 million ($413,030 thousand) was 
credited to the additional paid-in capital account. 

During the year ended March 31, 1988, a consolidated 
subsidiary issued shares to third parties by a public offering at 
amounts per share in excess of the company's average per share 
carrying value. The increase, net of deferred tax, in the stock
holders' equity of the subsidiary applicable to the company was 
credited to the additional paid-in capital. 

Conversions of convertible debt issued in 1983 and thereafter 
into common stock are accounted for in accordance with the 
provisions of the Japanese Commercial Code by crediting one
half of the conversion proceeds to the common stock account 
and the other half to the additional paid-in capital account. For 
conversions of convertible bonds issued prior to 198:5, the par 

value of the stock issued is credited to the common stock 
account and the remainder of conversion proceeds is included 
in the additional paid-in capital. 

The Japanese Commercial Code provides that an amount 
equal to at least 10% of cash dividends paid by the company 
and its domestic subsidiaries be appropriated as a legal reserve. 
No further appropriation is required when the legal reserve 
equals 25% of stated capital. 

The appropriations of retained earnings for the year ended 
March 31, 1989, which have been incorporated in the accom
panying financial statements, will be proposed for approval at 
the general stockholders' meeting to be held in June 1989 and 
will be recorded in the statutory books of account, in accordance 
with the Commercial Code, after stockholders' approval. 

An analysis of the changes in the cumulative translation 
adjustment for the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five
month period ended March 31, 1987 and for the years ended 
March 31, 1988 and 1989 is presented below: 

Yen in Dollars in 
millions thousands 

Year ended Five months Year Year 
ended March 31 October 31, ended March 31 , ended March 31 , 

1986 1987 1988 1989 1989 

Balance, beginning of period ...... .... ....... .. ... .... ..... ............ .... ... ........ . (¥19,013) (¥44,916) (¥50,174) (¥66,417) ($503,159) 
Aggregate translation adjustment for the period ................ ........ . (29,181) (5,579) (17,125) 3,907 29,599 
Income taxes for the period allocated to 

translation adjustment ........ ... ..... .. ... .. .. ............... .. .... ....... ... ... ... .... . . 3,278 321 882 603 4,568 

Balance, end of period .... .. .. .. ......... ........ ... .......... ......... .... ... .. .. ......... . (¥44,916) (¥50,174) (¥66,417) (¥61,907) ($468,992) 

14. Research and development expenses 
Research and development expenses charged to cost of sales 

for the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five-month period 
ended March 31, 1987 and for the years ended March 31, 1988 

and 1989 were ¥122,383 million, ¥51,182 million, ¥128,707 
million and ¥14 2,077 million ($1 ,076,341 thousand), respectively. 
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15. Leased assets 
The company leases certain plant facilities, office spa·ce, 

warehouses and employees' residential facilities. 
An analysis of leased property under capital leases at 

March 31, 1988 and 1989 is as follows: 

Yen in 
millions 

March 31 

Class of property 1988 1989 

Land ....................... ...... ........................................................................................................................ ........ .................. ¥1,055 
Buildings....................................................................................................................................................................... 4,639 
Machinery and equipment.. .............. .. .. .. ....... .. .... ............................................................................. .. ................... .. 2,125 
Accumulated amortization......... ............. ... ....... ...... ... .. .. ................. ........ ..... ...... .. .. .... ...... ... ... ................................... ( 1,591) 

¥6,228 

¥ 996 
4,423 
3,212 

(1,934) 

¥6,697 

Dollars in 
thousands 

March 31, 
1989 

$ 7,545 
33,508 
24,333 

(14,651) 

$50,735 

The following is a schedule by years of future minimum lease 
payments under capital leases together with the present value 

of the net minimum lease payments as of March 31, 1989: 

Yen in Dollars in 
Year ending March 31 millions thousands 

1990 ......... ............ ...... ... .. .. .. ..... .... .. .. ....... .. ... ..... ..... .. ..... .... ... .... ...................................... ... .... .... .................... ... ....... ....... .... ... .. . ¥1,296 $ 9,818 
1991 ... .... ....................................... ... .. .................................................................................................................................... . . 1,235 9,356 
1992 ................ .. ...................................... .. .... ... .. ....................... ........................ ..... ... ..... .. ..... .......... ... ..... .. .... ... ... ... .................. . 1,068 8,091 
1993 ................................... ..... ... ............................................................................ ....... ................................... .......... .... ........ .. 898 6,803 
1994 ............................................................................ ............................................................................................................ . 871 6,598 
Later years ....... ............................................................... ... .............................................................................. ......... ..... ..... .. .. 3,518 26,652 

Total minimum lease payments ........ .... .. ..... .. .. ......... .. ........... ............ ................................................................... .. 8,886 67,318 
Less-Amount representing interest ..................... ......... ... ...... ............................. .. ............... ..................... ... .................. .. 2,212 16,757 

Present value of net minimum lease payments ................................. .. .... ................... ........ .... ...................................... . 6,674 50,561 
Less-Current obligations ... ... ...... ... .................. .. ....................................................................................................... , ........ . 623 4,720 

Long-term capital lease obligations .................... .................... ... ....... .... .......... ....... .......................................................... .. ¥6,051 $45,841 

Rental expenses under operating leases for the year ended 
October 31, 1986, for the five-month period ended March 31, 
1987 and for the years ended March 31, 1988 and 1989 were 
¥21,329 million, ¥9,519 million, ¥22,246 million and ¥28,708 

million ($217,485 thousand), respectively. The minimum rental 
payments required under operating leases that have initial or 
remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year at 
March 31, 1989 are as follows : 

Year ending March 31 
Yen in 

millions 

1990 ...... ..... ................... ............. ................................................ ................................. ................. .... ........................................ ¥12,087 
1991........... ....................... .. ..... ...... ............. ..................................................... ............ ......... ................................................... 10,648 
1992........... .... ......... ....................... .. ................................................................ ......................... ........ ...................... ................. 8,616 
1993. .. ......... ......... .... .... .. ............ ................................... .. .. ..................... ........................................................ .. ............ .. .......... 7,041 
1994....... ... ....................... ............. ...... .. ..... ............... .............. ...... .... ....... .... .... .. .......... ... .... .... ................................................. 4,038 
Later years......... .. ..... ..... ........................................... ......................................................... ... .......... ...... ... ...... ... .. ................ .... 31,716 

Total minimum future rentals ............................. .... ................................................................................................ ¥74,146 

Dollars in 
thousands 

$ 91,568 
80,666 
65,273 
53,341 
30,591 

240,273 

$561,712 
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16. Commitments a:nd contingent liabilities 
Commitments outstanding at March 31, 1989 for the purchase 

of property, plant and equipment approximated ¥41,787 million 
($316,568 thousand). 

Contingent liabihties at March 31, 1989 for notes discounted 
and guarantees given in the ordinary course of business 
amounted to approximately ¥60,836 million ($460,879 thousand), 
including ¥850 minion ($6,4 39 thousand) for loans guaranteed 
on behalf of affiliated companies. 

Certain subsidiaries in the record and music industry entered 
into long-term contracts with recording artists and companies 
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for the production and/ or distribution of records, tapes, compact 
discs and videos. These contracts cover various periods mainly 
through March 31, 1991. As of March 31, 1989, these subsidiaries 
were committed to make payments under such long-term 
contracts of ¥22,648 million ($171,576 thousand). 

At March 31, 1989, the parent company and its subsidiaries 
and affiliates had no material litigation or claims outstanding, 
pending or threatened against them. 



Report of Independent Acc'?untants 

Price Waterhouse 
May 22, 1989 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
of Sony Corporation (Sony Kabushiki Kaisha) 

Aoyama Building 
2-3, Kita-Aoyama 1-chome 
Minato-ku. Tokyo 107 

Telephone 03-404-9351 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sony Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 
1988 and 1989, and the related consolidated statements of income and retained earning; and of cash flows for the year ended October 31, 
1986, for the five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 1989, expressed 
in yen. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

The company has not presented segment information for the year ended October 31, 1986, for the five-month period ended March 
31, 1987 and for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 1989. In our opinion, the presentation of segment information 
concerning operations in different industries, and foreign operations and export sales is required by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America for a complete presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, except for the omission of segment information as discussed in the third paragraph of this report, the consolidated 
financial statements audited by us present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sony Corporation and its consoli
dated subsidiaries at March 31, 1988 and 1989, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended October 31, 
1986, for the five-month period ended March 31, 1987 and for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 1989, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the company changed its basis of consolidation in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-owned Subsidiaries. 
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Principal Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies 

Overseas 

North America 

United States 

Sony USA Inc. 
Management, financial, tax, and administrative 
services to its subsidiaries 

Sony Corporation of America 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in the 
United States 

Digital Audio Disc Corporation 
Manufacture of compact discs 

CBS Records Inc. 
Record operation, including production, 
manufacture, and sale of records, tapes, 
compact discs, and video software 

Canada 

Sony of Canada Ltd. 
Sale of Sony products in Canada 

Central and South America 

Panama 

Sony Corporation of Panama S.A. 
Sale of Sony products in Central and South America 

Sony CSA, S.A. 
Offshore trade of Sony products to Caribbean Islands 

Venezuela 

Sony de Venezuela S.A. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in Venezuela 

Brazil 

Sony da Amazonia Ltda. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in Brazil 

Chile 

Sony Chile Ltda. 
Sale of Sony products in Chile 

Mexico 

Magneticos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 
Assembly and packaging of audio compact cassettes 
and floppydisks 

Europe 

West Germany 

Sony Europa G.m.b.H. 
Coordination of Sony operations in Europe 

Sony Deutschland G.m.b.H. 
Sale of Sony products in West Germany 

Sony-Wega Produktions· G.m.b.H. 
Manufacture and sal~ of Sony products 

44 

United Kingdom 

Sony (U.K.) Limited 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in the 
United Kingdom 

Sony Broadcast Limited 
Sales headquarters of broadcast- and professional
use video and audio equipment in Europe, Africa, 
and the Middle East 

France 

Sony France S.A. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in France 

Switzerland 

Sony Overseas S.A. 
Foreign exchange and financial operations in Europe 

Sony (Schweiz) A.G. 
Sale of Sony products in Switzerland 

The Netherlands 

Sony Distribution Centre (Europe) B.V. 
Logistics in Europe (transportation, cargo work, 
and warehousing) 

Sony Overseas Finance B.V. 
Issue of Euro-commercial paper 

Sony Communication Products B.V. 
Distribution of professional video products for 
industrial use in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East 

Sony Nederland B.V. 
Sale of Sony products in the Netherlands 

Belgium 

Sony Service Centre (Europe) N.V. 
Repair and service of Sony products in Europe 

Sony Belgium N.V. 
Sale of Sony products in Belgium 

Denmark 

Sony Scandinavia A/S 
Sale of Sony products in Scandinavia 

Austria 

Sony Ges.m.b.H. 
Sale of Sony products in Austria 

DADC Austria Ges.m.b.H. 
Manufacture of compact discs 

Italy 

Sony Italia S.p.A. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in Italy 

Spain 

Sony Espana, S.A. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony products in Spain 

Portugal 

Sony Portugal Lda. 
Sale of Sony products in Portugal 

The Middle East 

Saudi Arabia 

Sony Saudi Arabian Company Ltd. 
Manufacture and sale of Sony Language Laboratory 
systems in Saudi Arabia 

Asia 

Hong Kong 

Sony Corporation of Hong Kong Limited 
Sale of Sony products in Hong Kong 

Singapore 

Sony International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 
Procurement, repair, and service in Asia and 
Oceania; offshore trade 

Sony Singapore Pte. Ltd. 
Sale of Sony products in Singapore 

Sony Precision Engineering Center 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 
Production technology support to other Sony 
manufacturing facilities in the Asian NIES; 
manufacture and sale of precision parts and 
components 

Sony Logistics (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 
Logistics in Southeast Asia (transportation, 
cargo work, and warehousing) 

Malaysia 

Sony TV Video (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. 
Manufacture of color television sets, deflection yokes, 
and television tuners 

Sony Electronics (M) SDN. BHD. 
Manufacture of radios and tape recorders 
(including Walkman) 

Thailand 

Sony Magnetic Products (Thailand) 
Co., Ltd. 
Manufacture of videotapes 

Korea 

Korea Toyo Radio Co., Ltd. 
Manufacture of audio products 

Taiwan 

Sony Video Taiwan Co., Ltd. 
Manufacture of VTRs 

Oceania 

Australia 

Sony (Australia) Pty. Limited 
Sale of Sony products in Australia, New Zealand, 
and the South Pacific Islands 



Japan 

Sony Kisarazu Corporation 
Manufacture of VTRs and CD players 

Sony Kohda Corporation 
Manufacture of VTRs and videodisc players 

Sony Minokamo Corporation 
High-density surface mounting of VIR parts and 
camera assembly 

Sony Broadcast Products Corporation 
Manufacture of industrial- and broadcast-use audio, 
video, camera, and optical systems 

Akebono Electronics Inc. 
Manufacture of printed circuit boards for 
industrial- and broadcast-use audio, video, camera, 
and optical systems 

Sony Sound Tee Corporation 
Manufacture and sale of microphones, PA systems, 
furniture, and hearing aids 

Taron Corporation 
Manufacture of audio and video products 

Sony Tsukuba Corporation 
Manufacture of audio products 

Sony Bonson Corporation 
Manufacture of tape recorders (including Walkman), 
flat TVs, and radios 

Sony Ichinomiya Corporation 
Manufacture of color TVs and VTRs 

Sony Denshi Corporation 
Manufacture of color TVs, color display monitors, 
and key components for televisions 

Sony Inazawa Corporation 
Manufacture of color TV tubes 

Sony Mizunami Corporation 
Manufacture of color TV tubes 

Motomiya Denshi Corporation 
Manufacture of Trinitron guns, security systems, flat 
display tubes, and key components for televisions 

Sony Magnetic Products, Inc. 
Manufacture of magnetic and optical recording 
media and electronic components 

Sony Oita Corporation . 
Manufacture of semiconductors 

Sony Kokubu Semiconductor 
Corporation 
Manufacture of semiconductors 

Sony Shiroishi Semiconductor Inc. 
Manufacture of semiconductors 

Sony Nagasaki Corporation 
Manufacture of semiconductors 

Sound System Corporation 
Manufacture of key components for VTRs; 
manufacture and surface mounting of devices for 
CD players and videodisc players 

Tohkai Electronics Corporation 
Manufacture of printed circuit boards 

Max Precision Products Corporation 
Manufacture and sale of precision components, 
molding dies, FA systems, and artwork for 
printed wiring boards 

Sony Asco Inc. 
Manufacture of data storage devices 
(MFDDs, HDDs, CD-ROMs) and printer systems 

Sony Engineering Corporation 
Design and engineering of electronic products 

Sony Procurement Service Corporation 
International procurement services for parts and 
components 

Sony Shoji Corporation 
Lease of real estate 

Sony Magnetic Tape Sales Corporation 
Sale of magnetic tapes 

Sony Enterprise Co., Ltd. 
Operation of the Sony Building and Sony Tower; 
import of athletic goods; and sales promotion, 
licensing, travel, language education, and 
insurance services 

Sony Logistics Corporation 
Warehousing; packing of cargo; airfreight 
forwarding; and transportation services 

Sony Service Co., Ltd. 
Repair and service of Sony products 

Sony Trading Corporation 
Import and distribution of overseas products 

As of March 31, 1989, the Company has 159 consolidated subsidiaries and has adopted the equity 
accounting method in respect to its 4 affiliated companies. The above table gives the main business 
of the Company's principal subsidiaries and affiliated companies as of April 30, 1989. 

Sony Energytec Inc. 
Manufacture and sale of batteries 

Sony Finance International, Inc. 
Credit, lease, and finance ; rental of Sony products; 
and insurance services 

CBS/Sony Group Inc. 
Manufacture and sale of phonograph records, music 
tapes, compact discs, videocassettes, and videodiscs 

Sony Creative Products Inc. 
Design, manufacture, and sale of stationery, gift goods, 
and cosmetics; licensing of designs, copyrights, 
and trademarks 

Sony PCL Inc. 
Video and HDVS post productions; video duplicating; 
various image transfers and conversions; motion 
picture and still-photo processing; and rental of 
video and HDVS display systems 

Hasso Electronics Corporation 
Duplicating of video software 

Sony Chemicals Corporation 
Manufacture and sale of videotapes, adhesives, and 
electronic components 

Sony Magnescale Inc. 
Manufacture and sale of digital position readout 
systems, digital gauging systems, CNC systems, 
instrumentation tape recorders, and high-speed 
video duplicating systems 

Sony Plaza Co., Ltd. 
Import, wholesale, and retail of household goods, 
cosmetics, and confectioneries 

Aiwa Co., Ltd. 
Manufacture and sale of hi-fi audio systems, 
headphone stereos, radio-cassette tape recorders, 
VTRs, and modems 

Sony Pruco Life Insurance Co., Ltd. 
Life insurance 

Sony/Tektronix Corporation . 
Manufacture, sale, and service of electronic 
measurements, displays, control instruments, and 
computer graphic products 
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Investor Information 

Sony Corporation 
7-35, Kitashinagawa 6-chome, 
Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 141, Japan 
Phone: (03) 448-2111 
Facsimile: (03) 448-2244 
Telex: 22262 

(SONYCORP J22262) 
Cable: SONYCORP TOKYO 

Date of Establishment 
May 1946 

Investor Relations Offices 
Japan 

Sony Corporation 
Investor Relations 
Executive Office 
7-35, Kitashinagawa 6-chome, 
Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 141 
Phone: (03) 448-2111 

U.S.A. 

Sony Corporation of America 
Corporate Financial 

Communications 
9 West 57th Street, 
New York, NY 10019 
Phone: (212) 371-5800 

U.K. 

Sony (U.K.) Limited 
Investor Relations 
Sony House, South Street, 
Staines, Middlesex TW18 4PF 
Phone: 0784-467000 

Independent Auditors 
Price Waterhouse 
Tokyo, Japan 
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Depositary Receipts 
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company 

of New York 
New York, New York 

Co-Transfer Agents 
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Bank of America National Trust 
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Montreal, Canada 
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